
   

Mississippi Headwaters Board 
Meeting Agenda 

Cass County Board Room Walker, MN  
 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83537273520 

  
January 27, 2023 

 10:00 am 
 

 
 

10:00 AM 

 Call to Order/Pledge of Allegiance 

 Officer Election- 2022 Officers-  Chair- Ted Van Kempen (Hubbard), Vice Chair- Davin Tinquist 

(Itasca), Sec./Treasurer- Steve Barrows. 

 

10:05 AM Approve/Amend 

 

 Agenda  

 Consent Agenda – December ’22 Minutes & Expenses 

 

Correspondence 

 

 January Press Release 

 DNR Acknowledgement email 

 

Planning and Zoning (Actions) 

 

 H1a23 Hilmer Variance  Hubbard County 

 

 

Action / Discussion Items: 

 

 Set up budget committee meeting- Action 

 Governor’s Budget- Discussion 

 Executive Directors report- Discussion 

 

Closed Meeting for Executive Director’s Annual Performance Evaluation 

 Performance Review Summary 

 Resolution 2023-01 (enclosed in Packet) 

 

Misc: ☼ Legislature Update (if any) ☼ County Updates 

 

Meeting Adjourned - Thank you 

 

     

Mtgs:  February 24, 2023 10:00 AM- Cass County Courthouse, Walker, MN  



 

 

 

 

 

Attachment 

 

Draft Minutes 

 

Monthly Expenses 

 

 



 

Mississippi Headwaters Board 

December 16, 2022 

Cass County Board Room 

322 Laurel St. 

Brainerd, MN 

Optional interactive technology:  https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88392024797 

MEETING 

MINUTES 

 

Members present by Roll Call:  Scott Bruns (Cass), Davin Tinquist (Itasca), Ted VanKempen (Hubbard), Dean 
Newland (Clearwater interactive), Craig Gaasvig (Beltrami), Steve Barrows (Crow Wing), Ann Marcotte (Aitkin 
interactive), and Tim Terrill (Executive Director). 
 
Others Present:  Allison White, Amy Kowalzek 
 
Pledge of Allegiance   
 
Chair Van Kempen asked if there were any additions to the agenda.  None added.  M/S (Barrows/Bruns) to 
approve of the agenda.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
M/S (Tinquist/Barrows) to approve of the Consent agenda.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
Correspondence 
Tim provided the board with the December press release which discussed the Whiskey Creek project and 
support from Enbridge for environmental cleanup. 
 
Planning and Zoning 
 
M12a22- White Variance-  Environmental Service Director Amy Kowalzek presented the board with the 
variance for Allison White to add a garage onto the existing home.  Amy said that the Board of Adjustment 
approved of the variance providing the owner arrange for a stormwater management and shoreline review by 
the Morrison County Shoreland Specialist, and the owner will implement and maintain the practices 
recommended.  Discussion ensued and Comm. Gaasvig moved for approval because it met the setback rules, 
has an existing, working septic, and doesn’t exceed the existing impervious surface limit.  Comm. Marcotte 
asked why the house was built closer to the Miss. river when it was in MHB jurisdiction, and Amy said that she 
researched that issue and the Morrison county director, at that time, said it wasn’t within the scope of the 
MHB jurisdictional area.  Tim said that our maps haven’t changed since 1980 when the MHB was formed.  
Comm. Gaasvig said that it looks like there was a mapping error, or something else that caused this, but that is 
no longer an issue now.  What’s done is done and the variance meets our plan.  Comm. Van Kempen noticed 
that the side of the garage would intrude on the side yard setback if the garage was installed.  Landowner 
Allison White drew the attention of the board to another photo which outlined where the garage would go 
and the picture showed that it would not intrude.   M/S (Gaasvig/Marcotte) to approve of the White 
variance.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 



 
 
Action/Discussion: 
 

1. Tim gave the monthly executive director’s report and said that he received an email from the 
Conservation Fund saying that their meeting went well with the DNR about Sheep Ranch, and the 
committee will recommend to the Commissioner to release the Sheep Ranch and Kabekona River 
Complex.   

2. Tim Attended a DNR partners meeting in Bemidji, and they talked about various issues concerning the 
partners.  The Keep it Clean campaign which focuses on keeping human waste and trash off the lakes 
during the ice fishing months was a well discussed topic. 

3. Tim discussed that the Crow Wing county board heard discussion about the Dahler lake acquisition 
which is over 1200 acres and were pleased that the land would be donated to the county using the 
Miss. Headwaters Habitat Corridor Program funding.  Comm. Barrows said that the project is located in 
Northern Crow Wing county and will provide logging revenue and recreational benefits to the users. 
 

Recognition of Outgoing Board Members-  The board recognized the board members that will no longer be 
attending the MHB board meetings due to election results.  Comm. Ann Marcotte, Mike Wilson, and Davin 
Tinquist were or will be provided a Certificate of Appreciation for their diligent work on the MHB board.  
Several board members verbally expressed their appreciation for their work on the board and the outgoing 
board members expressed their gratitude and appreciation for working with the other board members. 
 
County or Legislative Updates 
 
Comm. Marcotte asked if anyone has heard about farmers having difficulty finding farm labor.  She noted that 
she had read it in a newspaper.  Comm. Barrows said that while Congress is addressing the issue with policy 
and funding, money is easy to get compared to getting workers. 
 
Comm. Gaasvig said that Enbridge provided $13K to Beltrami county for fixing the High Banks project on the 
Miss. river.  This will help compliment the funding that MHB provided to them. 
 
Comm. Van Kempen said that with the new pipeline going through Hubbard County, they are intending to use 
it to reduce taxes and rehabilitate homes.  He said it is much cheaper to renovate a home than build new 
ones. 
 
M/S (Barrows/Gaasvig) to adjourn.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________     ________________________________  

Chairman of the Board       Executive Director Tim Terrill    



YTD 

spending/rei

mbursement

Projected 

Budget

% of budget 

spent

Monthly Amount

$58,776.03 $124,000.00 47.40%

$4,761.46 $9,000.00 52.91%

$200.00 0.00%

$12,000.00 0.00%

$3,600.00 0.00%

$156.00 $83.00 187.95%

$12,000.00 0.00%

LCCMR acquisition $500.00 0.00% competitive reimbursement

Total $0.00 $4,917.46 $36,883.00

Monthly Amount

11,692.36$              $45,098.77 $105,064.00 42.93%

$2,492.00 0.00%

250.00$                   $1,050.00 $2,200.00 47.73%

18.68$                     $411.98 $550.00 74.91%

175.00$                   $935.63 $1,600.00 58.48%

313.89$                   $1,212.47 $3,000.00 40.42%

525.00$                   $2,625.00 $30,000.00 8.75%

152.79$                        $1,042.93 $1,350.00 77.25%

400.00$                        $750.00 0.00%

Total 13,527.72$                  $52,376.78 $147,006.00

Governor's DNR grant is always $124K every year

LSOHC grant is around $6K to $8K every year

*The total under revenue does not reflect the $124K because it is a non-competitive grant, and it doesn't always fall in the fiscal year.

County Support (52990)

Professional Services (62990)

Miscell. Other revenue (58300)

Expenses: Notes

December SFY'23 Budget Summary

8 county support

AIS reimbursement

Salaries/Benefits 

FICA/Med/PERA/LIFE/LTD/Hlth/

WC(61000)

MHB board Per Diem (62680)

reimbursed by Gov. DNR grant

reimbursed by Gov. DNR grant 

Governor’s DNR grant (53290)

MCIT insurance/work 

comp/liability (61500) reimbursed by Gov. DNR grant

Guidebook sales (58400) reimbursment for Guidebook sales

enbridge reimbursement

Revenues:

non competitive quarterly reimbursement

LSOHC reimbursement

Notes

Commissioner Mileage (62720)

Training & Registration Fees 

(63380)

Hotel/Meals/travel exp. (63340)

Office supplies/operations 

(64090)

CW financial

AMC meal

reimbursed by Gov. DNR grant 

reimbursed by Gov. DNR grantEmployee Mileage (63320)

reimbursed by Gov. DNR grant AMC conf. registration

MCIT Dividend (58300) MCIT refund

LSOHC grant (53290)

Enbridge program (58300)

telephone, printer ink



Crow Wing County

ACCOUNT DETAIL HISTORY FOR 2022 12 TO 2022 12

Report generated: 01/11/2023 08:21
User:             KorieW
Program ID:       glacthst

Page      1

ORG      OBJECT PROJ                                                                                    NET LEDGER        NET BUDGET
 YR/PR    JNL EFF DATE  SRC REF1   REF2       REF3         CHECK #     OB                 AMOUNT          BALANCE           BALANCE
74830    61000        Salaries & Wages - Regular    
                                                             REVISED BUDGET                                                      .00
 
                                                             PER 01                    5,523.01           5,523.01
                                                             PER 02                    6,012.04          11,535.05
                                                             PER 03                    5,802.46          17,337.51
                                                             PER 04                    5,802.46          23,139.97
                                                             PER 05                    5,802.47          28,942.44
                                                             PER 06                    5,802.46          34,744.90
                                                             PER 07                    8,703.69          43,448.59
                                                             PER 08                    5,802.47          49,251.06
                                                             PER 09                    5,802.48          55,053.54
                                                             PER 10                    5,802.46          60,856.00
                                                             PER 11                    5,802.47          66,658.47
 22/12    165 12/02/22  PRJ pr1202 1221202    1221202     1221                          2,901.23         69,559.70
      pay120222  WARRANT=221202  RUN=1 BI-WEEKL                     
                                                                                       
 22/12    676 12/16/22  PRJ pr1216 1121622    1121622     1121                          2,901.23         72,460.93
      pay121622  WARRANT=121622  RUN=1 BI-WEEKL                     
                                                                                       
 22/12   1351 12/30/22  PRJ PR1230 1221230    1221230     1221                          2,901.23         75,362.16
      pay123022  WARRANT=221230  RUN=1 BI-WEEKL                     
                                                                                       

      LEDGER BALANCES --- DEBITS:         75,362.16       CREDITS:                .00      NET:          75,362.16
 
 
74830    61200        Active Insurance              
                                                             REVISED BUDGET                                                      .00
 
                                                             PER 01                    1,709.26           1,709.26
                                                             PER 02                    1,709.26           3,418.52
                                                             PER 03                    1,709.96           5,128.48
                                                             PER 04                    1,709.96           6,838.44
                                                             PER 05                    1,711.36           8,549.80
                                                             PER 06                    1,709.96          10,259.76
                                                             PER 07                    1,709.96          11,969.72
                                                             PER 08                    1,709.96          13,679.68
                                                             PER 09                    1,709.96          15,389.64
                                                             PER 10                    1,709.96          17,099.60
                                                             PER 11                    1,709.96          18,809.56
 22/12    165 12/02/22  PRJ pr1202 1221202    1221202     1221                            866.91         19,676.47
      pay120222  WARRANT=221202  RUN=1 BI-WEEKL                     
                                                                                       
 22/12    676 12/16/22  PRJ pr1216 1121622    1121622     1121                            843.05         20,519.52
      pay121622  WARRANT=121622  RUN=1 BI-WEEKL                     
                                                                                       

      LEDGER BALANCES --- DEBITS:         20,519.52       CREDITS:                .00      NET:          20,519.52
 
 



Crow Wing County

ACCOUNT DETAIL HISTORY FOR 2022 12 TO 2022 12

Report generated: 01/11/2023 08:21
User:             KorieW
Program ID:       glacthst

Page      2

ORG      OBJECT PROJ                                                                                    NET LEDGER        NET BUDGET
 YR/PR    JNL EFF DATE  SRC REF1   REF2       REF3         CHECK #     OB                 AMOUNT          BALANCE           BALANCE
74830    61300        Employee Pension & FICA       
                                                             REVISED BUDGET                                                      .00
 
                                                             PER 01                      796.85             796.85
                                                             PER 02                      870.93           1,667.78
                                                             PER 03                      839.18           2,506.96
                                                             PER 04                      839.17           3,346.13
                                                             PER 05                      839.18           4,185.31
                                                             PER 06                      839.17           5,024.48
                                                             PER 07                    1,278.70           6,303.18
                                                             PER 08                      839.18           7,142.36
                                                             PER 09                      839.17           7,981.53
                                                             PER 10                      839.17           8,820.70
                                                             PER 11                      839.18           9,659.88
 22/12    165 12/02/22  PRJ pr1202 1221202    1221202     1221                            419.59         10,079.47
      pay120222  WARRANT=221202  RUN=1 BI-WEEKL                     
                                                                                       
 22/12    676 12/16/22  PRJ pr1216 1121622    1121622     1121                            419.58         10,499.05
      pay121622  WARRANT=121622  RUN=1 BI-WEEKL                     
                                                                                       
 22/12   1351 12/30/22  PRJ PR1230 1221230    1221230     1221                            439.54         10,938.59
      pay123022  WARRANT=221230  RUN=1 BI-WEEKL                     
                                                                                       

      LEDGER BALANCES --- DEBITS:         10,938.59       CREDITS:                .00      NET:          10,938.59
 
 
74830    62100        Telephone                     
                                                             REVISED BUDGET                                                      .00
 
                                                             PER 01                       57.37              57.37
                                                             PER 02                       56.83             114.20
                                                             PER 03                       56.91             171.11
                                                             PER 04                       57.66             228.77
                                                             PER 05                       57.84             286.61
                                                             PER 06                       67.83             354.44
                                                             PER 07                       60.99             415.43
                                                             PER 08                       60.32             475.75
                                                             PER 09                       63.92             539.67
                                                             PER 10                       62.83             602.50
                                                             PER 11                       55.00             657.50
 22/12    337 12/13/22  API 006205            183589              32763                     6.82            664.32
      W C121322  MONTHLY BILLING                CONSOLIDATED TELECOM
                                                                                       
 22/12    676 12/16/22  PRJ pr1216 1121622    1121622     1121                             55.00            719.32
      pay121622  WARRANT=121622  RUN=1 BI-WEEKL                     
                                                                                       
 22/12    678 12/20/22  API 006205            183771              32783                     6.74            726.06
      W C122022  MONTHLY SERVICES               CONSOLIDATED TELECOM
                                                                                       

      LEDGER BALANCES --- DEBITS:            726.06       CREDITS:                .00      NET:             726.06
 
 



Crow Wing County

ACCOUNT DETAIL HISTORY FOR 2022 12 TO 2022 12

Report generated: 01/11/2023 08:21
User:             KorieW
Program ID:       glacthst

Page      3

ORG      OBJECT PROJ                                                                                    NET LEDGER        NET BUDGET
 YR/PR    JNL EFF DATE  SRC REF1   REF2       REF3         CHECK #     OB                 AMOUNT          BALANCE           BALANCE
74830    62680        Non-Employee Per Diems        
                                                             REVISED BUDGET                                                      .00
 
                                                             PER 02                      150.00             150.00
                                                             PER 03                      550.00             700.00
                                                             PER 05                      150.00             850.00
                                                             PER 06                      200.00           1,050.00
                                                             PER 07                      250.00           1,300.00
                                                             PER 09                      300.00           1,600.00
                                                             PER 11                      500.00           2,100.00
 22/12    905 12/20/22  API 003356            183961              32829                    50.00          2,150.00
      W A122022  TED VANKEMPEN MHB PERDIEM/MILE HUBBARD COUNTY TREAS
                                                                                       
 22/12    905 12/20/22  API 002534            183963              32832                    50.00          2,200.00
      W A122022  DEAN NEWLAND 12/10/22          NEWLAND, DEAN       
                                                                                       
 22/12    905 12/20/22  API 001099            183965              32830                    50.00          2,250.00
      W A122022  ANN MARCOTTE                   MARCOTTE, ANNE      
                                                                                       
 22/12    905 12/20/22  API 002809            183966              32834                    50.00          2,300.00
      W A122022  DAVIN TINQUIST 12/16/2022      TINQUIST, DAVIN C   
                                                                                       
 22/12    905 12/20/22  API 003257            183967              32828                    50.00          2,350.00
      W A122022  CRAIG GAASVIG 12/16/22         GAASVIG, CRAIG      
                                                                                       

      LEDGER BALANCES --- DEBITS:          2,350.00       CREDITS:                .00      NET:           2,350.00
 
 
74830    62720        Non-Employee Mileage          
                                                             REVISED BUDGET                                                      .00
 
                                                             PER 02                      198.90             198.90
                                                             PER 03                      359.19             558.09
                                                             PER 05                      164.97             723.06
                                                             PER 06                      227.92             950.98
                                                             PER 07                      210.00           1,160.98
                                                             PER 09                      216.88           1,377.86
                                                             PER 11                      508.75           1,886.61
 22/12    905 12/20/22  API 003356            183961              32829                    36.25          1,922.86
      W A122022  TED VANKEMPEN MHB PERDIEM/MILE HUBBARD COUNTY TREAS
                                                                                       
 22/12    905 12/20/22  API 002809            183966              32834                    75.00          1,997.86
      W A122022  DAVIN TINQUIST 12/16/2022      TINQUIST, DAVIN C   
                                                                                       
 22/12    905 12/20/22  API 003257            183967              32828                    63.75          2,061.61
      W A122022  CRAIG GAASVIG 12/16/22         GAASVIG, CRAIG      
                                                                                       

      LEDGER BALANCES --- DEBITS:          2,061.61       CREDITS:                .00      NET:           2,061.61
 
 



Crow Wing County

ACCOUNT DETAIL HISTORY FOR 2022 12 TO 2022 12

Report generated: 01/11/2023 08:21
User:             KorieW
Program ID:       glacthst

Page      4

ORG      OBJECT PROJ                                                                                    NET LEDGER        NET BUDGET
 YR/PR    JNL EFF DATE  SRC REF1   REF2       REF3         CHECK #     OB                 AMOUNT          BALANCE           BALANCE
74830    62990        Prof. & Tech. Fee - Other     
                                                             REVISED BUDGET                                                      .00
 
                                                             PER 01                    2,080.20           2,080.20
                                                             PER 02                      595.00           2,675.20
                                                             PER 03                   92,098.80          94,774.00
                                                             PER 04                    6,725.98         101,499.98
                                                             PER 05                    1,818.08         103,318.06
                                                             PER 06                   11,820.00         115,138.06
                                                             PER 07                   11,986.66         127,124.72
                                                             PER 08                    1,120.00         128,244.72
                                                             PER 09                      525.00         128,769.72
                                                             PER 10                    5,997.50         134,767.22
                                                             PER 11                      724.78         135,492.00
 22/12   1779 12/30/22  GEN                                                               525.00        136,017.00
      RECURRING  FINANCIAL SERVICE                                  
                                                                                       

      LEDGER BALANCES --- DEBITS:        136,017.00       CREDITS:                .00      NET:         136,017.00
 
 
74830    63320        Employee Mileage              
                                                             REVISED BUDGET                                                      .00
 
                                                             PER 01                      239.96             239.96
                                                             PER 02                       90.97             330.93
                                                             PER 03                      345.21             676.14
                                                             PER 04                      386.81           1,062.95
                                                             PER 05                      240.60           1,303.55
                                                             PER 06                      116.42           1,419.97
                                                             PER 07                      405.00           1,824.97
                                                             PER 08                      345.26           2,170.23
                                                             PER 09                      241.82           2,412.05
                                                             PER 10                      220.39           2,632.44
 22/12   1011 12/21/22  GNI                                                                73.13          2,705.57
      WF OOP     1434 - Aitkin, pallisade                           
                 TIM TERRILL - OOP                                                     
 22/12   1011 12/21/22  GNI                                                                66.25          2,771.82
      WF OOP     1434 - monthly board mtg                           
                 TIM TERRILL - OOP                                                     
 22/12   1011 12/21/22  GNI                                                                65.63          2,837.45
      WF OOP     1434 - MHB monthly mtg                             
                 TIM TERRILL - OOP                                                     
 22/12   1787 12/21/22  GEN                                                                40.38          2,877.83
      WF OOP     TIM T MILEAGE                                      
                                                                                       
 22/12   1787 12/21/22  GEN                                                                30.94          2,908.77
      WF OOP     TIM T MILEAGE                                      
                                                                                       
 22/12   1787 12/21/22  GEN                                                                37.56          2,946.33
      WF OOP     TIM T MILEAGE                                      
                                                                                       

      LEDGER BALANCES --- DEBITS:          2,946.33       CREDITS:                .00      NET:           2,946.33



Crow Wing County

ACCOUNT DETAIL HISTORY FOR 2022 12 TO 2022 12

Report generated: 01/11/2023 08:21
User:             KorieW
Program ID:       glacthst

Page      5

ORG      OBJECT PROJ                                                                                    NET LEDGER        NET BUDGET
 YR/PR    JNL EFF DATE  SRC REF1   REF2       REF3         CHECK #     OB                 AMOUNT          BALANCE           BALANCE
 
 
74830    63340        Hotel & Meals Travel Expense  
                                                             REVISED BUDGET                                                      .00
 
                                                             PER 01                      303.48             303.48
                                                             PER 02                        9.33             312.81
                                                             PER 03                       10.19             323.00
                                                             PER 04                       16.35             339.35
                                                             PER 06                       20.92             360.27
                                                             PER 07                       29.00             389.27
                                                             PER 08                        9.24             398.51
                                                             PER 09                        9.60             408.11
                                                             PER 11                      346.14             754.25
 22/12   1234 12/21/22  GNI                                                                18.68            772.93
      BREM PCARD meal at AMC conference                             
                 TIM TERRILL - TGI FRIDAYS 2687                                        

      LEDGER BALANCES --- DEBITS:            772.93       CREDITS:                .00      NET:             772.93
 
 
74830    63360        Other Travel Expenses         
                                                             REVISED BUDGET                                                      .00
 
 22/12    524 12/13/22  API 102987            183596              32767                   400.00            400.00
      W A1213202 2022 AMC Conf - Terrill        ASSOCIATION OF MN   
                                                                                       
 22/12   2113 12/13/22  APM 102987            183596              32767                  -400.00               .00
      MOD INV    2022 AMC Conf - Terrill        ASSOCIATION OF MN   
                                                                                       

      LEDGER BALANCES --- DEBITS:            400.00       CREDITS:            -400.00      NET:                .00
 
 
74830    63380        Training & Registration Fees  
                                                             REVISED BUDGET                                                      .00
 
                                                             PER 05                      345.00             345.00
 22/12   2113 12/13/22  APM 102987            183596              32767                   400.00            745.00
      MOD INV    2022 AMC Conf - Terrill        ASSOCIATION OF MN   
                                                                                       

      LEDGER BALANCES --- DEBITS:            745.00       CREDITS:                .00      NET:             745.00
 
 
74830    64090        Office Supplies               
                                                             REVISED BUDGET                                                      .00
 
                                                             PER 02                        1.76               1.76
                                                             PER 03                       34.72              36.48
                                                             PER 04                       35.81              72.29
                                                             PER 06                       18.09              90.38
                                                             PER 07                       32.20             122.58
                                                             PER 08                      368.18             490.76



Crow Wing County

ACCOUNT DETAIL HISTORY FOR 2022 12 TO 2022 12

Report generated: 01/11/2023 08:21
User:             KorieW
Program ID:       glacthst

Page      6

ORG      OBJECT PROJ                                                                                    NET LEDGER        NET BUDGET
 YR/PR    JNL EFF DATE  SRC REF1   REF2       REF3         CHECK #     OB                 AMOUNT          BALANCE           BALANCE
                                                             PER 09                      366.44             857.20
                                                             PER 11                      171.81           1,029.01
 22/12   1234 12/21/22  GNI                                                                84.23          1,113.24
      BREM PCARD printer ink                                        
                 TIM TERRILL - THE OFFICE SHOP BRAINERD                                

      LEDGER BALANCES --- DEBITS:          1,113.24       CREDITS:                .00      NET:           1,113.24

          GRAND TOTAL --- DEBITS:        253,952.44       CREDITS:            -400.00      NET:         253,552.44 
 
        31 Records printed
                                          ** END OF REPORT - Generated by Korie Wiggins **                                          



 

Clearwater  *  Hubbard  *  Beltrami  *  Cass  *   Itasca  *  Aitkin  *  Crow Wing  *  Morrison 

 

    

 
 

 

IMMEDIATE PRESS RELEASE 1/3/23 

Media Contact 

Tim Terrill 

218-824-1189 

timt@mississippiheadwaters.org 

www.mississippiheadwaters.org 

322 Laurel St. 

Brainerd, MN  56401 

 

Mississippi Headwaters Board Makes Strategic Decision to Align with Existing Systems 

 

In high school or college biology class you learned about how one animals lifecycle interacts with 

another animals lifecycle at a critical point to help both animals simultaneously.  For some of you that 

brings back fond memories of school, but did you know that this happens at an organizational level as 

well?  The Miss. Headwaters Board (MHB) at their November meeting discussed how their executive 

director could work with counties to learn how the programs of MHB can work with the One 

Watershed One Plan (1W1P) program.  MHB executive director Tim Terrill said that 1W1P is a 

statewide program that is geographically changing how local counties deal with water quality and 

habitat issues, and suggested that the MHB hold a meeting with partners to discuss how we can 

provide resources to the existing program.  He said by having partners in a room they could discuss the 

1W1P and learn what it is; what it’s goals are; and what geography MHB can help in with their 

programs.  Instead of one organism helping another, its one organization helping another organization 

to accomplish mutual goals.  The board saw the value in this discussion and by consensus approved of 

the meeting.  This is an example of how diverse and complicated government systems can congregate 

and work together for the public good.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

http://www.mississippiheadwaters.org/


 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Planning and Zoning 

H1a23- Hilmer Variance 

 

 



















































































































































































Staff Report 
Hubbard County Planning Commission/Board of Adjustment 
Monday, October 24, 2022 Hearing/Meeting 
 

Page 1 of 4 
 

Variance Application 30-V-22 by Lori Hilmer: Part of Gov't Lots 9 & 10, Section 1, Township 145, Range 32, 
Farden Township between Wolf Lake, a recreational development lake and Mud Lake, a natural environment 
lake. Parcels 07.01.02300 and 07.01.02910. Applicant is requesting the following after-the-fact variances - Part 
1: Sections 502.2, 701, 901, and 904.6 of the Shoreland Management Ordinance (SMO) for two platforms placed 
within the 100' ordinary high water (OHW) mark setback from Wolf Lake that constitute an expansion of a 
nonconforming use and nonconforming impervious surface area and placement of non-vegetated ground cover 
in the shore impact zone, Part 2: Sections 502.1, 701, and 1012 of the SMO to expand a nonconforming use by 
adding four RV sites located within the 150' OHW mark setback of Mud Lake that increase the dwelling unit 
density nonconformity, Part 3: Sections 701, 904.6, and 1012 of the SMO to request an amendment of Variance 
99-27 to allow the second story of a detached garage to be used as a dwelling unit with an attached deck that 
constitutes an expansion of a nonconforming use that increases the dwelling unit density nonconformity and an 
expansion of the nonconforming impervious surface area. 

Enclosed Document(s): 
 30-V-22 application 
 2020 aerial imagery w/2’ elevation contours  
 05/26/2021 staff site visit sketch and photos 
 04/29/2022 notice of violation letter and photos 
 Mississippi Headwaters Board Comprehensive Plan 
 09/28/2022 dwelling unit density calculation 

 
There are three parts to this application – all of which are after-the-fact (ATF) that were brought to the Env. 
Services Department’s attention in a complaint. See the attached May 26, 2021 site visit sketch and photos and 
April 29, 2022 notice of violation letter for pertinent background information. 
 
The resort use of the property is a legal nonconformity because it predates the Ordinance and has never sought 
or been granted a conditional use permit. The property lies in the Mississippi Headwaters Board’s (MHB)  
Comprehensive Plan jurisdiction so any variance approval(s) will also require certification from the MHB. A copy 
of the MHB Comprehensive Plan is included in the meeting packet. The property use and improvements on it 
must comply with both the Shoreland Management Ordinance and the MHB Comprehensive Plan. The property 
abuts Wolf Lake on the north (RD class) and Mud Lake on the south (NE class). The lot is roughly 185’ deep 
along the west lot line and ~305’ deep along the east lot line so with a 100’ OHW setback on Wolf and a 150’ 
OHW setback on Mud along with a 20’ setback from Wolf Lake Road (township road), there isn’t much space on 
the property that meets setbacks. 
 
The applicant has owned the property for 22+ years, and during this time has gone through the variance process 
twice, and obtained eight land use permits. Staff points this out so the Board knows that the applicant is very 
aware of the SMO and MHB requirements. 
 
Part 1 is an ATF request to allow two concrete platforms, 16’ diameter (200.96 sq. ft.) and 19’ diameter (283.4 
sq. ft.) to remain at 15’ and 20’ OHW setbacks from Wolf Lake respectively. 
 
Part 2 is an ATF request to add four RV sites to the dwelling unit density that is already well over the allowed 
density. The allowed dwelling unit density for the property is two dwelling units. Ten dwelling units legally exist 
as part of the nonconforming resort use. Five additional dwelling units (i.e. the dwelling above the detached 
garage and four RV sites) are requested which would cause the dwelling unit density to be fifteen units. This 
fifteen unit density would be thirteen units over the allowed two unit density. 
 



Staff Report 
Hubbard County Planning Commission/Board of Adjustment 
Monday, October 24, 2022 Hearing/Meeting 
 

Page 2 of 4 
 

None of the requested RV sites meet the 150’ OHW setback from Mud Lake. Additionally, Site # 4 does not meet 
the 100’ OHW setback from Wolf Lake. 
 
RV site # 4 is not plumbed into the septic system, but is requested to be able to be connected to the proposed 
new septic system for which a design is included in the application. Sites # 1, 2, and 3 are plumbed into the 
existing system and are requested to be able to be connected to the proposed new septic system. 
 
The garage that is the subject of Part 3 of the application was allowed to have a 20’ westerly addition added per 
Variance 99-27. The structure was then and is supposed to be now strictly a detached garage. The 2nd story has 
been converted into a dwelling without zoning approval and a second story deck on the Wolf Lake side of the 
structure was constructed without zoning approval. The ATF request is to be able to let the dwelling unit and 
deck remain. The deck meets the 100’ OHW setback from Wolf Lake. The structure is roughly 75’ from the OHW 
of Mud Lake. The deck railing is unsafe as there are large spaces lacking railings where a child or even adult 
could fall through. 
 
The SSTS on the property is compliant and was allowed to be installed at less than the 150’ setback from Mud 
Lake per Variance 91-46. On December 8, 2006, staff responded to a complaint of sewage being pumped from 
this system onto the ground. Significant sewage volume was documented overflowing the road ditch and flowing 
down the road surface to Mud Lake along with a sump pump, electrical cord, and hose access to the septic tank 
being noted as well. The Department has not been made aware of any subsequent similar occurrences. The 
SSTS is significantly undersized for the requested dwelling unit density increase so the application includes a 
new design showing how the system can be upgraded to proper sizing. The design states that the proposed 
additional mound drainfield area will not meet the 150’ OHW setback from Wolf Lake. The Env. Services Dept. 
can administratively allow a lesser OHW setback from Wolf (no less than 75’) when a property lacks sufficient 
depth or usable area. The entire property is shallow enough in a north-south direction that the 150’ OHW 
setbacks from Wolf and Mud Lakes overlap. The property is very limited in terms of where a drainfield can be 
placed due to setbacks as well as usable area that has not been disturbed or is not already covered by 
improvements such as structure and driveways. 
 
Using GIS, staff calculated the impervious surface area percentage on the property excluding the two platforms, 
deck on the garage, and RV sites as being 28.3%. The property is 121,270 sq. ft. in size per the tax parcel map. 
The 25% threshold is 30,317.8 sq. ft. With the platforms and garage deck factored in, the impervious surface 
area percentage increases to roughly 29.1%. If the RVs are added, the percentage would increase a bit more. 
Thus, while not requested in the application, the three requested items will also require a variance from Section 
904.6 of the SMO to further increase the property’s nonconformance with the 25% impervious surface area 
threshold. 
 
The department and MN DNR Area Hydrologist are not supportive of any of the application’s three parts. The 
square footage of the platforms in Part 1 greatly exceeds the 150 sq. ft. allowed in Section 601 of the SMO and 
neither meets the 20’ minimum OHW setback. Also, Section 601 only applies to residential properties, not 
resorts. The Part 2 and 3 requests would cause the already extremely overdense dwelling unit density to become 
even more so and there doesn’t seem to be any difficulty other than economics cited in the application for them. 
As a reminder, any part(s) of the application that are approved also require MHB certification. Without 
certification, a variance is not fully approved. 
 
Below are the findings of fact questions for your consideration: 
 
1. Is the variance in harmony with the general purposes and intent of the official controls?  

           Yes (  )  No ( X ) 



Staff Report 
Hubbard County Planning Commission/Board of Adjustment 
Monday, October 24, 2022 Hearing/Meeting 
 

Page 3 of 4 
 

Why or why not? The two platforms total 484 sq. ft. of impervious surface area within the shore impact 
zone without any mitigation measures when there is room on the property for them to be moved to a 
greater OHW setback. The property also currently exceeds the 25% of lot area impervious surface area 
threshold. The two platforms increase this nonconformity. The property is large enough to only have two 
dwelling units on it. There currently are ten dwelling units and five more dwelling units are requested with 
two of them not meeting all required OHW setbacks. Increasing the nonconforming dwelling unit density by 
this amount is contrary to the ordinance’s intent.  

2.   Is the property owner proposing to use the property in a reasonable manner not permitted by an official 
control? 

              Yes (  )  No ( X  ) 
Why or why not? Having two concrete platforms within 20’ of the OHW of Mud Lake that compound the 
property’s impervious surface area percentage noncompliance and have no mitigating measures to offset 
their impervious surface when there is room to move the platforms further from the lake is not a reasonable 
proposal. The property is already 500% over the allowed dwelling unit density and the request is to further 
increase the density noncompliance so it would be 700% over the allowed dwelling unit density and 
require OHW setback variances for two of the units is also not a reasonable proposed use of the property. 

3.  Is the need for a variance due to circumstances unique to the property and not created by the current or 
prior property owners?          

            Yes (   )  No ( X ) 
 Why or why not? The property is sandwiched between a recreational development lake and a natural 

environment lake and is only 187’ deep between the lakes on the west property line and roughly 285’ deep 
between the lakes on the east property line so there isn’t much available room that meets all setbacks. The 
property is also ~2.8 ac. in size and Wolf Lake Road, a township road, runs along the south side of the 
property which takes up a fair amount of area and contributes quite a bit toward the impervious surface area. 
However, there is room to move the two platforms further away from Wolf Lake than where they were placed 
and the property is simply not large enough for the additional requested five dwelling units. The current 
landowner is trying to squeeze more improvements onto the property than what it is sized to be able to 
handle and the additional dwelling units are needed for the resort’s economic vitality and are thus driven by 
the desired use of the property and not circumstances unique to the property. 

4.  Will the issuance of the variance maintain the essential character of the locality? 
             Yes (   )  No ( X ) 

Why or why not? This resort property has seasonal residential properties on both its west and east sides. 
There is no vegetative screening of the two platforms so they are very visible from the lake. The requested 
RV and dwelling unit above the garage would add five dwelling units to the existing ten dwelling units when 
the property is only large enough to have two dwelling units on it. With the Township road that runs along 
the south side of the property, all the requested RV sites and the additional second story dwelling above 
the garage are very visible from the road.  

5. Does the stated practical difficulty involve more than just economic considerations?       
           Yes (  X )  No (  ) 



Staff Report 
Hubbard County Planning Commission/Board of Adjustment 
Monday, October 24, 2022 Hearing/Meeting 
 

Page 4 of 4 
 

Why or why not? Economics are cited in the application as a practical difficulty, but the property also is 
shallow enough in a north-south direction that the OHW setbacks from the two lakes that it fronts overlap 
on much of the property and greatly reduce the available area on the rest of the property.  

Add On for an After-The-Fact Variance 
 
If the Board of Adjustment answers yes to all 5 questions for a variance in the first instance, thereby finding 
that all of the criteria set forth in Section 1103, Item 1, parts 1 through 5, are met, then the following additional 
criteria may be considered and weighed by the Board of Adjustment in determining whether to grant or deny a 
request for the after-the-fact variance: 
 
1. Why did the applicant fail to obtain the required permit or comply with the applicable official control 

before commencing work?  Was there any attempt to comply with the applicable official controls?                              
          
            Yes (   ) No (   )  

Why or why not?  
 

2. Did the applicant make a substantial investment in the property before learning of the failure to comply 
with the applicable official controls? 

            Yes (   )  No (   ) 
Why or why not?  

 
3. Did the applicant complete the work before being informed of the violation of applicable official 

controls? 
            Yes (   )  No (   ) 

Why or why not?  
4. Are there structures, circumstances, or conditions in the area similar to those that are the subject of the 

variance request? 
         Yes (   ) No (   ) 

Why or why not?  
 

5. Based on all of the facts, does it appear to the Board of Adjustment that the applicant acted in good 
faith? 

            Yes (   ) No (   ) 
Why or why not?  

 
6. Would the benefit to the county appear to be outweighed by the detriment the applicant would suffer if 

forced to remove the structure? 
            Yes (   ) No (   ) 

Why or why not?  

 







Staff Report 
Hubbard County Planning Commission/Board of Adjustment 
Monday, December 19, 2022 Hearing/Meeting 
 

Page 1 of 5 
 

BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT:  

OLD BUSINESS 

Variance Application 30-V-22 by Lori Hilmer: Part of Gov't Lots 9 & 10, Section 1, Township 145, Range 32, 
Farden Township between Wolf Lake, a recreational development lake and Mud Lake, a natural environment 
lake. Parcels 07.01.02300 and 07.01.02910. Applicant is requesting the following after-the-fact variances - Part 
1: Sections 502.2, 701, and 901 of the Shoreland Management Ordinance (SMO) for two platforms placed 
within the 100' ordinary high water (OHW) mark setback from Wolf Lake that constitute an expansion of a 
nonconforming use and placement of non-vegetated ground cover in the shore impact zone, Part 2: Sections 
502.1, 701, and 1012 of the SMO to expand a nonconforming use by adding four RV sites located within the 
150' OHW mark setback of Mud Lake that increase the dwelling unit density nonconformity, and Part 3: 
Sections 701 and 1012 of the SMO to request an amendment of Variance 99-27 to allow the second story of 
the garage to be used as a dwelling unit with an attached deck that constitutes an expansion of a 
nonconforming use that increases the dwelling unit density nonconformity. 

Enclosed Document(s): 
      Provided previously in October 2022 PC/BOA meeting packet: 

 30-V-22 application 
 30-V-22 application MS 15.99 indefinite time extension form 
 2020 aerial imagery w/2’ elevation contours  
 05/26/2021 staff site visit sketch and photos 
 04/29/2022 notice of violation letter and photos 
 Mississippi Headwaters Board Comprehensive Plan 
 09/28/2022 dwelling unit density calculation 

 
This application was initially placed on the October 2022 Board of Adjustment meeting agenda. Shortly before 
the meeting, the applicant notified staff that she had a personal health issue arise requiring appointments that 
conflicted with the October lot viewal and meeting dates. So the applicant signed an indefinite time extension 
form granting the County as much time as needed to review/act on the application. The applicant also asked that 
the application be placed on the December meeting agenda. Thus, at the October meeting, the application was 
tabled for placement on the December meeting agenda. As the Board viewed the property during the scheduled 
October lot viewal and current snow cover does not allow accurate viewing of impervious surface areas on the 
property (which is a component of the application), no follow-up lot viewal is scheduled for December. 
 
Below in gray text is the October staff report comments prepared for this application. 
 
There are three parts to this application – all of which are after-the-fact (ATF) that were brought to the Env. 
Services Department’s attention in a complaint. See the attached May 26, 2021 site visit sketch and photos and 
April 29, 2022 notice of violation letter for pertinent background information. 
 
The resort use of the property is a legal nonconformity because it predates the Ordinance and has never sought 
or been granted a conditional use permit. The property lies in the Mississippi Headwaters Board’s (MHB)  
Comprehensive Plan jurisdiction so any variance approval(s) will also require certification from the MHB. A copy 
of the MHB Comprehensive Plan is included in the meeting packet. The property use and improvements on it 
must comply with both the Shoreland Management Ordinance and the MHB Comprehensive Plan. The property 
abuts Wolf Lake on the north (RD class) and Mud Lake on the south (NE class). The lot is roughly 185’ deep 
along the west lot line and ~305’ deep along the east lot line so with a 100’ OHW setback on Wolf and a 150’ 
OHW setback on Mud along with a 20’ setback from Wolf Lake Road (township road), there isn’t much space on 
the property that meets setbacks. 



Staff Report 
Hubbard County Planning Commission/Board of Adjustment 
Monday, December 19, 2022 Hearing/Meeting 
 

Page 2 of 5 
 

 
The applicant has owned the property for 22+ years, and during this time has gone through the variance process 
twice, and obtained eight land use permits. Staff points this out so the Board knows that the applicant is very 
aware of the SMO and MHB requirements. 
 
Part 1 is an ATF request to allow two concrete platforms, 16’ diameter (200.96 sq. ft.) and 19’ diameter (283.4 
sq. ft.) to remain at 15’ and 20’ OHW setbacks from Wolf Lake respectively. 
 
Part 2 is an ATF request to add four RV sites to the dwelling unit density that is already well over the allowed 
density. The allowed dwelling unit density for the property is two dwelling units. Ten dwelling units legally exist 
as part of the nonconforming resort use. Five additional dwelling units (i.e. the dwelling above the detached 
garage and four RV sites) are requested which would cause the dwelling unit density to be fifteen units. This 
fifteen unit density would be thirteen units over the allowed two unit density. 
 
None of the requested RV sites meet the 150’ OHW setback from Mud Lake. Additionally, Site # 4 does not meet 
the 100’ OHW setback from Wolf Lake. 
 
RV site # 4 is not plumbed into the septic system, but is requested to be able to be connected to the proposed 
new septic system for which a design is included in the application. Sites # 1, 2, and 3 are plumbed into the 
existing system and are requested to be able to be connected to the proposed new septic system. 
 
The garage that is the subject of Part 3 of the application was allowed to have a 20’ westerly addition added per 
Variance 99-27. The structure was then and is supposed to be now strictly a detached garage. The 2nd story has 
been converted into a dwelling without zoning approval and a second story deck on the Wolf Lake side of the 
structure was constructed without zoning approval. The ATF request is to be able to let the dwelling unit and 
deck remain. The deck meets the 100’ OHW setback from Wolf Lake. The structure is roughly 75’ from the OHW 
of Mud Lake. The deck railing is unsafe as there are large spaces lacking railings where a child or even adult 
could fall through. 
 
The SSTS on the property is compliant and was allowed to be installed at less than the 150’ setback from Mud 
Lake per Variance 91-46. On December 8, 2006, staff responded to a complaint of sewage being pumped from 
this system onto the ground. Significant sewage volume was documented overflowing the road ditch and flowing 
down the road surface to Mud Lake along with a sump pump, electrical cord, and hose access to the septic tank 
being noted as well. The Department has not been made aware of any subsequent similar occurrences. The 
SSTS is significantly undersized for the requested dwelling unit density increase so the application includes a 
new design showing how the system can be upgraded to proper sizing. The design states that the proposed 
additional mound drainfield area will not meet the 150’ OHW setback from Wolf Lake. The Env. Services Dept. 
can administratively allow a lesser OHW setback from Wolf (no less than 75’) when a property lacks sufficient 
depth or usable area. The entire property is shallow enough in a north-south direction that the 150’ OHW 
setbacks from Wolf and Mud Lakes overlap. The property is very limited in terms of where a drainfield can be 
placed due to setbacks as well as usable area that has not been disturbed or is not already covered by 
improvements such as structure and driveways. 
 
Using GIS, staff calculated the impervious surface area percentage on the property excluding the two platforms, 
deck on the garage, and RV sites as being 28.3%. The property is 121,270 sq. ft. in size per the tax parcel map. 
The 25% threshold is 30,317.8 sq. ft. With the platforms and garage deck factored in, the impervious surface 
area percentage increases to roughly 29.1%. If the RVs are added, the percentage would increase a bit more. 
Thus, while not requested in the application, the three requested items will also require a variance from Section 
904.6 of the SMO to further increase the property’s nonconformance with the 25% impervious surface area 
threshold. 



Staff Report 
Hubbard County Planning Commission/Board of Adjustment 
Monday, December 19, 2022 Hearing/Meeting 
 

Page 3 of 5 
 

 
The department and MN DNR Area Hydrologist are not supportive of any of the application’s three parts. The 
square footage of the platforms in Part 1 greatly exceeds the 150 sq. ft. allowed in Section 601 of the SMO and 
neither meets the 20’ minimum OHW setback. Also, Section 601 only applies to residential properties, not 
resorts. The Part 2 and 3 requests would cause the already extremely overdense dwelling unit density to become 
even more so and there doesn’t seem to be any difficulty other than economics cited in the application for them. 
As a reminder, any part(s) of the application that are approved also require MHB certification. Without 
certification, a variance is not fully approved. 
 
Below are the findings of fact questions for your consideration: 
 
1. Is the variance in harmony with the general purposes and intent of the official controls?  

           Yes (  )  No ( X ) 
Why or why not? The two platforms total 484 sq. ft. of impervious surface area within the shore impact 
zone without any mitigation measures when there is room on the property for them to be moved to a 
greater OHW setback. The property also currently exceeds the 25% of lot area impervious surface area 
threshold. The two platforms increase this nonconformity. The property is large enough to only have two 
dwelling units on it. There currently are ten dwelling units and five more dwelling units are requested with 
two of them not meeting all required OHW setbacks. Increasing the nonconforming dwelling unit density by 
this amount is contrary to the ordinance’s intent.  

2.   Is the property owner proposing to use the property in a reasonable manner not permitted by an official 
control? 

              Yes (  )  No ( X  ) 
Why or why not? Having two concrete platforms within 20’ of the OHW of Mud Lake that compound the 
property’s impervious surface area percentage noncompliance and have no mitigating measures to offset 
their impervious surface when there is room to move the platforms further from the lake is not a reasonable 
proposal. The property is already 500% over the allowed dwelling unit density and the request is to further 
increase the density noncompliance so it would be 700% over the allowed dwelling unit density and 
require OHW setback variances for two of the units is also not a reasonable proposed use of the property. 

3.  Is the need for a variance due to circumstances unique to the property and not created by the current or 
prior property owners?          

            Yes (   )  No ( X ) 
 Why or why not? The property is sandwiched between a recreational development lake and a natural 

environment lake and is only 187’ deep between the lakes on the west property line and roughly 285’ deep 
between the lakes on the east property line so there isn’t much available room that meets all setbacks. The 
property is also ~2.8 ac. in size and Wolf Lake Road, a township road, runs along the south side of the 
property which takes up a fair amount of area and contributes quite a bit toward the impervious surface area. 
However, there is room to move the two platforms further away from Wolf Lake than where they were placed 
and the property is simply not large enough for the additional requested five dwelling units. The current 
landowner is trying to squeeze more improvements onto the property than what it is sized to be able to 
handle and the additional dwelling units are needed for the resort’s economic vitality and are thus driven by 
the desired use of the property and not circumstances unique to the property. 

4.  Will the issuance of the variance maintain the essential character of the locality? 



Staff Report 
Hubbard County Planning Commission/Board of Adjustment 
Monday, December 19, 2022 Hearing/Meeting 
 

Page 4 of 5 
 

             Yes (   )  No ( X ) 
Why or why not? This resort property has seasonal residential properties on both its west and east sides. 
There is no vegetative screening of the two platforms so they are very visible from the lake. The requested 
RV and dwelling unit above the garage would add five dwelling units to the existing ten dwelling units when 
the property is only large enough to have two dwelling units on it. With the Township road that runs along 
the south side of the property, all the requested RV sites and the additional second story dwelling above 
the garage are very visible from the road.  

5. Does the stated practical difficulty involve more than just economic considerations?       
           Yes (  X )  No (  ) 
Why or why not? Economics are cited in the application as a practical difficulty, but the property also is 
shallow enough in a north-south direction that the OHW setbacks from the two lakes that it fronts overlap 
on much of the property and greatly reduce the available area on the rest of the property.  

Add On for an After-The-Fact Variance 
 
If the Board of Adjustment answers yes to all 5 questions for a variance in the first instance, thereby finding 
that all of the criteria set forth in Section 1103, Item 1, parts 1 through 5, are met, then the following additional 
criteria may be considered and weighed by the Board of Adjustment in determining whether to grant or deny a 
request for the after-the-fact variance: 
 
1. Why did the applicant fail to obtain the required permit or comply with the applicable official control 

before commencing work?  Was there any attempt to comply with the applicable official controls?                                              
          
            Yes (   ) No (   )  

Why or why not?  
 

2. Did the applicant make a substantial investment in the property before learning of the failure to comply 
with the applicable official controls? 

            Yes (   )  No (   ) 
Why or why not?  

 
3. Did the applicant complete the work before being informed of the violation of applicable official 

controls? 
            Yes (   )  No (   ) 

Why or why not?  
4. Are there structures, circumstances, or conditions in the area similar to those that are the subject of the 

variance request? 
         Yes (   ) No (   ) 

Why or why not?  
 

5. Based on all of the facts, does it appear to the Board of Adjustment that the applicant acted in good 
faith? 

            Yes (   ) No (   ) 
Why or why not?  

 



Staff Report 
Hubbard County Planning Commission/Board of Adjustment 
Monday, December 19, 2022 Hearing/Meeting 
 

Page 5 of 5 
 

6. Would the benefit to the county appear to be outweighed by the detriment the applicant would suffer if 
forced to remove the structure? 

            Yes (   ) No (   ) 
Why or why not?  

 













































































Variance Application 30-V-22 by Lori Hilmer DBA Shangri-La Resort: 
2020 Aerial Imagery w/Elevation Contours Overlain 

 

 

 



Variance Application 30-V-22 by Lori Hilmer DBA Shangri-La Resort: 
2020 Aerial Imagery w/Elevation Contours Overlain 

 

 



1

Demey DeJong

From: Demey DeJong
Sent: Tuesday, July 05, 2022 2:22 PM
To: Shangri-La Resort
Subject: RE: Shangri-La Resort- Lori Lynn

Hello Lori, 
 
I attempted to contact you last week but your voicemail was full. An extension can be granted until September 30, 
2022.  I will place this email with the letter.  
 
Please let me know if you have questions.  
 
Thanks, 
Demey 
 
Demey DeJong 
Environmental Specialist 
301 Court Avenue  
Park Rapids, MN 56470 
(218)732-3890 
www.co.hubbard.mn.us 
 
Disclaimer: This message is intended only for the use of the individual or entity to which it is addressed. Information in this message or an attachment may be 
government data and thereby subject to the Minnesota Government Data Practices Act, Minnesota Statutes, Chapter 13, may be subject to attorney-client or work 
product privilege or may be confidential, privileged, proprietary, or otherwise protected. The unauthorized review, copying, retransmission, or other use or disclosure 
of the information is strictly prohibited. If you are not the intended recipient of this message, please immediately notify the sender of the transmission error and then 
promptly delete this message and any attached files from your computer system and physically destroy any paper copies.  

 
From: Shangri-La Resort <shangrilaresort@gmail.com>  
Sent: Thursday, June 30, 2022 4:19 PM 
To: Demey DeJong <demey.dejong@co.hubbard.mn.us> 
Subject: Shangri-La Resort- Lori Lynn 
 
Hi Demey! 
Hope you had a fun-filled relaxing weekend:) 
During your on-site inspection last year in May of 2021 you stated an email would be sent of any concerns. I’d 
check monthly and saw none so thought we were good to go:)  
 
Your letter dated April 29, 2022 was delivered in a magazine in June and read June 23. I’m kindly requesting an 
extention of time to complete after-variance process being it’s now primary resort business busy season. Please 
call to assist me with this seemingly overwhelming process. I had no idea all these ordinances existed. I’m not 
here to break any rules so will do what needs to be done to make it right and complete after-the-fact variance. I 
will need lots of help.  
Thank you so kindly, 
Lori Lynn Hilmer  
218.209.6332 
shangrilaresort@gmail.com 





















  

 Environmental Services 
 

 301 Court Avenue, Park Rapids, MN 56470 
  Phone: 218.732.3890 

www.co.hubbard.mn.us/departments/environmental_services/index.php 
 

 

Eric Buitenwerf, Env. Services Director  Bryan Haugen, Asst. Env. Services Director  Staci Lee, Admin. Asst. 
Env. Specialists: Aaron Anderson, Demey DeJong, Kal Larson  GIS Supervisor: Jack Bovee 

 

Hubbard County is an equal opportunity employer 
 

 
 

Notice of Hubbard County Board of Adjustment Public Hearing/Meeting for Variance Application 30-V-22 

 
Applicant:   Lori Lynn Hilmer (Shangri-La Resort) 
 
Property Address:    32326 Wolf Lake Road, Cass Lake, MN 56633 
      
Legal Description: Part of Gov't Lots 9 & 10, Section 1, Township 145, Range 32 
 
Parcel ID #: 07.01.02300 and 07.01.02910 

Lot Viewal Date: Thursday, December 15, 2022 at approximately (x) a.m. (Please allow at least ± 30 minutes 
of scheduled time.) 

 
Hearing/Meeting Date: Monday, December 19, 2022 at 6:00 p.m. 
 
Place: Hubbard County Government Center, 3rd Floor Board Room # 324. 
 
Purpose: Applicant is requesting the following after-the-fact variances - Part 1: Sections 502.2, 

701, 901, and 904.6 of the Shoreland Management Ordinance (SMO) for two platforms 

placed within the 100' ordinary high water (OHW) mark setback from Wolf Lake that 

constitute an expansion of a nonconforming use and nonconforming impervious surface 

area and placement of non-vegetated ground cover in the shore impact zone, Part 2: 

Sections 502.1, 701, and 1012 of the SMO to expand a nonconforming use by adding 

four RV sites located within the 150' OHW mark setback of Mud Lake that increase the 

dwelling unit density nonconformity, Part 3: Sections 701, 904.6, and 1012 of the SMO to 

request an amendment of Variance 99-27 to allow the second story of a detached garage 

to be used as a dwelling unit with an attached deck that constitutes an expansion of a 

nonconforming use that increases the dwelling unit density nonconformity and an 

expansion of the nonconforming impervious surface area. 

Above please find a Public Hearing Notice for your information.  An effort has been made to notify all the property owners 

within 500 feet of the premises concerned.  To ensure that everyone has been notified, please share this notice with any 

interested property owners that may have not been notified by mail.  Should you have any further questions, please 

contact the Environmental Services Office at 218-732-3890. 

Planning Commission/Board of Adjustment (PC/BOA) hearing/meeting agenda items (i.e. applications and related 
documents), composition and duties, meeting procedure, and findings of fact may be viewed on the Hubbard County website 
(www.co.hubbard.mn.us) by clicking on the homepage “Agendas, Summaries & Minutes” link and then on the “Meetings” 
link on the subsequent webpage that opens.  

Written comments/materials on any agenda items must be submitted to Hubbard County Environmental Services, 301 
Court Ave., Park Rapids, MN 56470 by 3:30 p.m. on Wednesday, December 14, 2022 and include the submitter’s 
complete name and address of residence.  

file:///C:/Users/staci.harvey/Desktop/www.co.hubbard.mn.us








December 19, 2022 Planning Commission/Board of Adjustment Hearing/Meeting 
Minutes 

Page 1 of 15 

 

HUBBARD COUNTY  
 
Planning Commission/Board of Adjustment Meeting Minutes  
 
6:00 p.m. on Monday, December 19, 2022 
 
Chair Mike Kovacovich opened the meeting with the following additional members present: Ken Grob, 
Veronica Andres, Tim Johnson, and Mark Petersen. Also present was Environmental Services 
Director Eric Buitenwerf.  
 
Kovacovich started the meeting by reading the procedure by which the meeting of the Planning 
Commission/Board of Adjustment will be conducted to the audience. 
 
Planning Commission:  
 
Approval of Minutes:  None 
 
Old Business:  None. 
 
New Business: None. 
 
Board of Adjustment: 
 
Approval of Minutes:  November 21, 2022 
 
Grob made a motion to approve the minutes as corrected. 
 
Petersen seconded the motion that carried unanimously 5 – 0.  
 
Old Business:   
 
Variance Application 30-V-22 by Lori Hilmer: Part of Gov't Lots 9 & 10, Section 1, Township 145, 

Range 32, Farden Township between Wolf Lake, a recreational development lake and Mud Lake, a 

natural environment lake. Parcels 07.01.02300 and 07.01.02910. Applicant is requesting the following 

after-the-fact variances - Part 1: Sections 502.2, 701, and 901 of the Shoreland Management 

Ordinance (SMO) for two platforms placed within the 100' ordinary high water (OHW) mark setback 

from Wolf Lake that constitute an expansion of a nonconforming use and placement of non-vegetated 

ground cover in the shore impact zone, Part 2: Sections 502.1, 701, and 1012 of the SMO to expand 

a nonconforming use by adding four RV sites located within the 150' OHW mark setback of Mud Lake 

that increase the dwelling unit density nonconformity, and Part 3: Sections 701 and 1012 of the SMO 

to request an amendment of Variance 99-27 to allow the second story of the garage to be used as a 

dwelling unit with an attached deck that constitutes an expansion of a nonconforming use that 

increases the dwelling unit density nonconformity. 

Lori Lynn Hilmer, 32326 Wolf Lake Road, Cass Lake, MN, and Colin Hilmer, 4003 Celtic Lane, Fort 

Collins, Colorado, presented the application. 



December 19, 2022 Planning Commission/Board of Adjustment Hearing/Meeting 
Minutes 

Page 2 of 15 

 

Lori Lynn Hilmer stated we are here to discuss three after-the-fact variances. The difficulty is the fact 

that this property is a legal nonconforming use that predates the Shoreland Management Ordinance. 

The guidelines refer mostly to residential use and not commercial resort use property so everything 

we do is noncompliant. Shangri-La Resort is the only resort left on Big Wolf Lake. We are passionate 

about what we do. Our guests leave heartwarming reviews. There is green space and beach space. 

We have done these improvements out of need and safety, not mere wants. We are here to discuss 

three after-the-fact variances which are not structures. I didn’t know we needed a variance to apply 

for them. There are two concrete fire rings. There are RV sites which are temporary. I brought in work 

campers this last year, who helped me work, and they brought their RVs. There is a garage which we 

transformed into a living space with a deck out front. Everybody else got a permit who built something 

for me, and he said he did too. I had no reason to check that it had been applied for. The deck is 

there. It is not complete because I got a notice to stop. It was on the docket to finish with composite 

materials this summer, but we stopped because we received this notice. Colin is my son and he helps 

me out. The concrete fire pits stopped erosion from the place next door. You allowed a big mound to 

be installed at 60’. The water came right my way and ran like a river. We put bushes in, planted 

shrubs, and we put this concrete fire place between 5 and 6. It has stopped the erosion, but now he 

has built a bigger house next door. I have researched neighboring variances and they were granted. 

These three requests seem reasonable compared to recent variances that were granted along our 

same lakeshore.  

Grob asked do you want to take each one of these individually and have the discussion on it, or can 

we ask questions about everything all at once? 

Kovacovich replied let’s proceed with asking questions about all parts, and then at the point we are 

done with discussion we can decide how to move forward. 

Grob stated it is my understanding you have had variances, or have had to do permits, in the past. It 

is curious that you proceeded to do several significant projects without permit. I would have thought 

that you would have been aware that almost anything you do that close to the lake, that you should at 

least check with Environmental Services. Do you have a good reason as to why all of these violations 

were preformed over four or five years when you probably should have known to check with 

Environmental Services? 

Lori Lynn Hilmer answered I had the time to do the research. That was back in 1999 and 2000 that 

my ex-husband had applied for those variances. My signature is not on them. The first permit that I 

applied for is when our garage burnt down in 2006. That was a structure. I knew that I needed to get 

a permit. The foundation was there and we tore the existing building down. The person who did the 

campfire pit said they would pour concrete. I never thought to get a permit. There is a space there to 

build a building with a variance at that same site, but it wasn’t a structure, so I didn’t get a permit. 

Nobody said anything, and it has been there 7 years. The RVs are temporary. I called the electric 

company to find out what I needed to do. I went through the permitting process. I didn’t think there 

was anything further that needed to be done for something that was not a building. They are here 

May 1st and they leave September 30th.  

Kovacovich opened for public comment. 



December 19, 2022 Planning Commission/Board of Adjustment Hearing/Meeting 
Minutes 

Page 3 of 15 

 

Larry O’Donnell, 18 Kings Mill Circle, Madison, WI, stated I am the resident that lives just to the east 

of Shangri-La Resort. I am in favor of all the variances that she is requesting. I have also been a long-

time patron of the resort before I bought the cabin next door. I can say that these improvements that I 

have seen with the fire rings and with the RV sites have enhanced the guests’ enjoyment. As far as 

the density calculations go, as I walk around the neighborhood and lake, from my perspective, there 

is a lot more ground covered by some of these other residences than what I see at the resort. There 

seems to be a lot of open space. The fire rings and the RV sites seem to be in lockstep with the 

Shoreland Management Ordinance. I don’t see any degradation of the shoreline. I don’t see any 

degradation of the vegetation. I see nothing that looks out of the ordinary. It looks good from that 

perspective. With respect to the density calculations and the size of the drainfield, I understand that is 

important. I am concerned about that too as a resident there. I would like to see some data collected 

about the volume capacity of that system. I know that the owner has agreed to install a flow meter to 

get empirical actual data off of that system so that it can be sized correctly. I would like to see the 

system sized according to empirical data that is collected from the peak times of the resorts 

operation. Other than that, I am okay with it. 

Kovacovich closed public comment. 

A written public comment letter from Raymond L O’Donnell, 18 Kings Mill Circle, Madison, WI, was 

received prior to the meeting in favor of the application. 

Grob stated let me first address the platforms. The written verbiage would appear to imply that prior to 

the platforms, there was a lot of disruption to the soil and runoff to the lake. It was hard to tell when 

we were there on lot viewal if that has been corrected by those platforms. Could you assure me that 

all water that falls on those platforms does, in fact, run off to the driveway and not to the lake? 

Lori Lynn Hilmer replied it does. They said that they slanted them towards the driveway. There is a 2” 

difference from one side to the other. There was nothing there besides bricks. There was no 

vegetation. It does not run like a river down to the entrance where people would enter the lake.  

Colin Hilmer added the reason that I thought it was a good idea is because it actually was running 

into the lake at first. I thought it would be ideal to not have the cut fire pit in the soil and then having it 

rain and drain towards the lake. We actually made it level instead of having it run off and then we 

placed the fire pit. There is grass between the fire pit and the beach. There is no way that any runoff 

is going to go to the lake.  

Lori Lynn Hilmer continued when we didn’t have a designated spot, people grabbed rocks and started 

a fire on the beach. So, if you give people a designated spot to have a fire, they will. Otherwise, the 

water would rise and it would cover the fire pits from the fires that were started on the beach and 

wash it right in the lake. The fluctuation on our lake can be up to 18” within two days. 

Grob added there is a part of our ordinance, not for resorts, but for residents, that allow platforms, a 
little bit smaller than these. They have to be 20’ back. I think one of yours is and one isn't. In order to 
have them that close, we usually require a mitigation. In other words, some form of vegetation along 
on your shoreline. Do you have any area along your shoreline that could be planted with a buffer 
zone? Maybe about 50’ long? 
 



December 19, 2022 Planning Commission/Board of Adjustment Hearing/Meeting 
Minutes 

Page 4 of 15 

 

Lori Lynn Hilmer replied we put a rock line along 2/3 of the shoreline to stop erosion. We could add 
plants in the rocks, but sometimes they get washed out. We have tried it. 
 
Grob continued mitigation would be a vegetated thing. 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer added on the back half of our resort, the entire roadside on Mud Lake, we have 
done nothing. 
 
Grob stated that doesn't help Wolf Lake. 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer said we didn't cut the grass up to the edge, we just leave it natural. That's natural 
vegetation, there's cattails. How many feet are you requesting? 
 
Grob replied 500 sq. ft.  
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer stated we would seek your advice on where to put it.  
 
Colin Hilmer added there are already are some gardens. We have that rock wall there. There are 
places where we did plant bushes so people don't jump over the rock wall and instead go in where 
the beach is. Are you talking about going along that rock wall line? 
 
Grob questioned you basically have sand beach across your whole 407’? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer replied some of it is rock, and some is pure sand to grass. 
 
Grob continued there’s a rock ledge, and then back behind that is grass or vegetation. 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer added we've worked really hard to establish that. 
 
Grob asked there's no obvious place where you could put in a buffer zone? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer replied on Cabin 6, on the left side. 
 
Colin Hilmer added behind the rock wall there are some places where we could put vegetation, or we 
have a lot of gardening spots along the lake, and then we just cut up to that. 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer asked will you tell us what native plants need to go in there? 2/3 of it is rip rap, and 
this is non-rip rap. There's a board in there that separates. 
 
Grob continued this doesn't have any at all. The grass comes already up to the beach. It seems so 
nicely cut. Do you cut it that way? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer replied we actually pull the grass out of the beach, but it is cut. You're saying to let it 
grow in front of the cabin?  
 
Petersen asked what do you think about doing something, like a “no-mow” zone, that would mitigate? 
 



December 19, 2022 Planning Commission/Board of Adjustment Hearing/Meeting 
Minutes 

Page 5 of 15 

 

Grob added I can't tell what the soil is exactly, but it looks pretty sandy. You're probably not going to 
get much more grass than that. You'd want to put some kind of little shrubs or something. It's hard to 
tell what direction the water flows. I do know that to allow platforms like that, we try to do some form 
of mitigation. 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer responded in front of the rocks it would be very plausible because people don't step 
over the rocks. It would protect them there. 
 
Grob explained the intent of the buffer is to prevent stormwater from running into the lake. That's the 
intent. Your rocks aren't going to do that. 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer replied on the other far half of that, it’s rip rap from the boat launch over up to the 
new house. We could put them in front of that. Where it is clear beach, it doesn't erode past the 
beach line. The other half actually started going back into the land nearer to the cabin. It's between 
Cabins 5, 6, and 3. We could put vegetation in front between the cabin and the rocks. People don't 
step over the rocks, they go to where the dock is and step out on the dock. 
 
Grob asked what I'm looking at here, what's the cabin closest to it? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer answered that's Cabin 1 and 2, in front of Cabin 2. The other half, to the left of the 
boat launch, is all rip rap. We could add vegetation in there. We do have one or two bushes and they 
keep getting washed out by the ice. The problem is here ice takes stuff out on this shoreline. It'll push 
a big sand dune up and then we level it. The other half has rocks. It would be plausible to put 
vegetation in there. I'm all for plants. 
 
Andres asked you have owned this property for approximately 22 years? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer replied yes. 
 
Andres continued you made the comment that your husband has applied for variance applications 
approximately 9 years ago? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer corrected it was about 20 years ago. 
 
Andres stated so you're aware that applications were needed no matter what you did to your legal 
nonconforming property. 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer replied he did all construction of buildings. 
 
Andres said okay, but you were aware at that time, back in 1999 or 2000, that permits were 
necessary. 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer answered for structures, yes. 
 
Andres corrected for anything. Your property is a nonconforming legal use, so basically anything on 
your property needs a permit. 
 



December 19, 2022 Planning Commission/Board of Adjustment Hearing/Meeting 
Minutes 

Page 6 of 15 

 

Lori Lynn Hilmer stated all we applied for were structures. 
 
Andres commented you made notes about the neighboring properties seeking variances and getting 
granted a variance. 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer replied because I educated myself in the last month. 
 
Andres explained but they went the proper route. They went to the Environmental Services Office, 
they saw that they could not get a permit, so they sought a variance beforehand, not after-the-fact. 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer stated they both built houses. 
 
Andres said I just wanted to clarify for you so that you understood the process. They went the proper 
route, asking for the variance ahead of time before they built anything. 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer added I have a huge punishment for not doing it. 
 
Andres continued we are trying to find ways to help you because you didn't go the right channel. You 
didn't go to the Environmental Services Office to seek an application. At that time they would have 
given you guidance that the only way you could do this is by a variance. I just wanted to give you the 
explanation of what happened here. When did the fire ring platforms get installed? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer replied one was 8 years ago and the other 6 years ago. I had it on Facebook. 
Nobody said you can't do that. You can't see them from the lake because they're level with the 
ground. They're not visible. 
 
Kovacovich questioned you just talked about variances being applied for 20 years ago, but didn’t you 
apply for a variance in 2006? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer replied no. The garage burnt down and I got a permit. I did not apply for a variance. I 
just got a building permit to replace it. 
 
Kovacovich asked that permit was to rebuild a garage? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer answered correct, a structure that was burnt down. 
 
Kovacovich questioned and now we're here dealing with that as one of the items because there is a 
dwelling above it and a deck that was not allowed by the permit? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer replied correct. The person who built it said they got one. 
 
Kovacovich stated while I appreciate the fact that you say that someone else got the permit, it is the 
landowner's responsibility to make sure all permits are secured. We're on the same page, you 
understand that? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer answered I do now. 
 



December 19, 2022 Planning Commission/Board of Adjustment Hearing/Meeting 
Minutes 

Page 7 of 15 

 

Kovacovich continued at what point after the garage was rebuilt did the second floor get started being 
used as a dwelling? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer replied during Covid. 
 
Kovacovich asked was the deck built at that time, or prior to that? 
 
Colin Hilmer replied it was built right away. 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer said 2016. I wanted to make it an art studio. It wasn't going to be a place to live, but I 
wanted my art studio up there. I just haven't had the time to do artwork when you're raising five kids, 
and then I did foster care, so I just didn't have the time to do my artwork. 
 
Petersen asked in this living space that we're looking at above the garage, what's in there as far as 
rooms? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer replied one bedroom and a sink. 
 
Petersen clarified one bedroom? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer stated there is one bedroom on the far side. It's got a lot of furniture. We have a 
variance to build a house, and I was gifted the furniture that's upstairs. 
 
Grob asked it has water and septic connection? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer answered yes. The garage always had a toilet in it. 
 
Petersen asked if we were to allow this to exist as a rental property, how many people do you think 
you could house in there? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer stated we have no intention to have it as a rental. It's specifically for my family. I 
have five kids, and we never built onto the house. 
 
Petersen clarified five kids and there's one bedroom in there? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer yeah, but I have a house there on the property that has two bedrooms. 
 
Petersen stated so one bedroom and one bath is in there? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer added and the living room area to just crash. My son came home from the Navy, 
and just slept on the couch up there. 
 
Petersen continued this was built by a contractor who you thought had pulled a permit? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer replied I built the garage. The deck was built by Greg Martinson. 
 
Petersen stated that is the only part. The building itself was built by permit? 



December 19, 2022 Planning Commission/Board of Adjustment Hearing/Meeting 
Minutes 

Page 8 of 15 

 

 
Lori Lynn Hilmer said yes. He had to have spoken to somebody down there because I wanted the 
deck to wrap around, but he said you can't go any closer to Mud Lake. 
 
Petersen asked did you and he settle on this deck as being done? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer replied no, he never finished it. Just the bottom half is done. The stringers are strung 
and there's plywood sitting on top. We were ready to get the composite boards and finish. We have 
wires that run across the decks to finish it and make it daycare compliant. 
 
Grob asked when this garage was permitted to be built, it was built with two levels? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer replied yes. 
 
Grob continued and during Covid is when you finished it off. What was it used for before that? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer responded there's just stuff up there for storage, leftover furniture that was meant to 
go in future cabins. 
 
Grob asked when you finished it off in the last few years, were all the windows and sliding doors in, or 
were those added to it? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer answered they're all used materials. 
 
Grob clarified when that was a storage area, how did you access it? Did you use steps inside the 
garage? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer responded the reason we put the sliding doors in was because the stairs were built 
so you couldn't turn the corner with the furniture. The patio doors are so that you could store stuff up. 
We actually had a bobcat lift it up and put it in through the patio doors. 
 
Grob questioned were the patio doors there before you finished it off? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer replied yes. 
 
Kovacovich clarified the patio doors were put in when the garage was built? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer answered yes. 
 
Grob asked how do you access that second floor? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer replied there's a stairwell in the inside.  
 
Petersen added I commented to the Board when I was out there about the deck. The fact that the 
railings aren't finished represents a safety hazard. The way the deck was framed underneath, where 
you see that header going across from post to post, I worked in construction when I was in the Twin 
Cities, and that would have never been allowed to be built that way. I have concerns, and that's why I 



December 19, 2022 Planning Commission/Board of Adjustment Hearing/Meeting 
Minutes 

Page 9 of 15 

 

was asking about the amount of people. A crowd on that deck could represent a structural danger. If 
nothing else, you might want to have that looked at by a competent construction professional. It could 
be dangerous. That gives me pause right there, let alone the railing, as to what we do with it here. It's 
hard for me to put any kind of a stamp of approval on that. Normally, we don't act on code 
enforcement here, but when you see something in front of your face that you know is in violation, it's 
hard for me to say it’s okay because it's not. Aside from what we do here, I think you might want to 
have that looked at before you have people up there. It's high enough that it could be a problem if it 
were to give way. That’s something to think about for your own personal, and your family’s, safety. 
 
Grob added a deck with openings like that is unsafe. 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer replied it was supposed to have wires between it, and now they make these glass 
frames that you can put out. We're looking at a composite deck up on top. 
 
Petersen stated before you do that just, again from a former building professional, I would look at how 
this is framed underneath before you do anything else.  
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer said I will have a licensed contractor look at it. 
 
Andres asked in approximately ‘99 when you applied for the variance to have the second story put 
on, that was supposed to be strictly a garage. You said you turned it into living quarters around Covid 
time? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer agreed.  
 
Colin Hilmer stated 2006 is when this was built. 
 
Andres continued from 2006 until 2019 it was strictly storage? 
 
Colin Hilmer replied storage with a bathroom in it. 
 
Andres clarified there were no living quarters in it? You didn't sleep in there for 10 years? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer answered there was stuff up there. The same furniture is still there. 
 
Andres commented it was designed to be strictly storage. I'm game with it being strictly storage and 
not living quarters. They only have one bedroom in it. It’s not really living quarters anyway, it could be 
returned to strictly a garage. I'm not in support of living quarters in there. 
 
Johnson added I did like her comment about those platforms being a designated area for a fire to 
prevent random fires on the beach. I don't see what harm they would do to the lake. I agree with you, 
Andres, on returning the garage structure to storage only.  
 
Petersen stated I kind of feel the same way. My problem with the platforms is, as I looked at our 
questions that we've got to answer, I couldn't answer them positively. That's where I struggled on 
those. 
 



December 19, 2022 Planning Commission/Board of Adjustment Hearing/Meeting 
Minutes 

Page 10 of 15 

 

Kovacovich added as far as the garage, it was permitted to be a garage and storage. I'm somewhat 
unclear about the bathroom that was put in, whether that was allowed or not. I definitely think it needs 
to go back to storage. As far as the deck, I have issues with the deck for a couple of reasons. It was 
unpermitted, and here we are after-the-fact, but based on the construction of that deck, I think the 
best solution is for that deck to come down and maybe allow some kind of a stairway platform for 
access if it's needed. It wasn't permitted, and it has structural issues. I have a hard time supporting 
that deck, but I am okay with storage. The platforms, I'm in agreement with Petersen, I don't know 
how we answer the questions affirmatively. 
 
Kovacovich continued we should talk about the RV sites too. 
 
Grob stated RV sites # 3 and 5 are your personal use units? The RV on site # 5 was one you used to 
go to Moondance. It's not rented. 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer agreed. 
 
Grob continued # 3 was something that was used to go south? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer replied yeah, it's already halfway there, so it's gone right now. 
 
Grob asked is it hooked up to water and septic when it's sitting there? Do you rent that unit in the 
summertime? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer responded we can. We mostly put family and friends there. There was a trailer that 
sat there. When he did the septic design, we had a two-bedroom trailer that sat in front of the garage. 
We took out the two-bedroom trailer, and that's where it sits. 
 
Grob asked how long was that two-bedroom trailer there, in 1999? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer answered it was there then. 
 
Colin Hilmer added we pulled it out after that. 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer stated it was unsafe and it had mold. 
 
Grob continued do you rent site # 3 in the summertime? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer replied we have, yes. 
 
Grob added so it's not your personal unit? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer responded it is our personal unit. 
 
Grob asked you bring it back and you connect it to your existing power, water, and septic? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer stated the septic was from that trailer. It was already there. 
 



December 19, 2022 Planning Commission/Board of Adjustment Hearing/Meeting 
Minutes 

Page 11 of 15 

 

Grob clarified it becomes a rental unit in the summertime? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer answered yes, it has been.  
 
Grob explained if it was just yours, and it was just parked there and stored, that's one thing. If it's 
rented, then it's a rental unit, and it's an additional one which is not allowed by your current 
nonconforming situation. It does have all the hookups of electrical and water. 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer replied because there was a mobile home unit there. 
 
Grob continued Sites # 1 and 2 are hooked up to the septic system, and you had power run to them 
by a power company. There's a transformer there and there's electrical hookups to Sites # 1 and 2. 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer answered correct. 
 
Grob asked you invested in electrical hookups to make those? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer responded they’re for work campers. 
 
Grob explained I don’t distinguish a work camper from a rental camper. These are functioning rental 
units, whether they pay money or they work it off. You did have a power system put in that supplies 
power to them. You have created those two new living unit areas. When did you do that? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer answered it’s in the application when I got the permit. I don't remember the year. 
 
Grob stated 2019 according to the Beltrami Electric contract. Those have been made permanent sites 
within the last three years, just like the living unit above the garage. Is site # 4 just a parking spot? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer replied I'm willing to do away with that. It's too crowded over there. We had a work 
camper over there, a single guy and a single gal, so it took two spots. We put him over there. 
 
Grob asked there are no electrical hookups or anything there at all? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer responded there's just electrical that plugs into the mobile home. They only need a 
110. 
 
Grob clarfied you are asking in your application for that location to be approved as an RV site. 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer replied I did, but I'm willing to retract that. 
 
Grob continued the application indicates it is for 4 additional RV sites. That's 1, 2, 3, and 4, correct? 
You're not asking for 5 as an RV site? 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer agreed. That one's in storage. It's not used. 
 
Grob stated between the garage and Sites 1, 2, 3, and 4, you're asking for 5 additional dwelling 
units for your resort? 



December 19, 2022 Planning Commission/Board of Adjustment Hearing/Meeting 
Minutes 

Page 12 of 15 

 

 
Lori Lynn Hilmer answered I didn't consider them dwellings because they leave. 
 
Grob explained if you've got water, sewer, and you rent them, they are a dwelling unit as part of your 
resort. I don't know how else you can look at them. 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer replied to me, they were temporary. 
 
Grob continued anything over 30 days is a permanent site. 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer asked so I can have people in there for 30 days and then they have to leave? 
 
Buitenwerf stated that is applicable to residential use lots. 
 
Andres added I'm opposed to any additional dwelling units because currently there are 12 dwelling 
units on this property. Adding 5 more dwelling units would just be greatly increasing the 
nonconforming dwelling unit density. That's contrary to our ordinance's intent. The property is already 
at 500% over the allowed dwelling unit density, so this would be putting at like 700% over the dwelling 
unit density. Also, all the RV sites that the applicant is requesting do not meet the 150’ ordinary high 
water setback from Mud Lake, and additionally # 4 does not meet the 100’ setback from 
Wolf Lake. I'm just not in favor of the RV sites or the dwelling above the garage. I could somewhat be 
in favor of the platforms, but for Parts 2 and 3, I am opposed. 
 
Grob asked Buitenwerf the staff write-up indicates that if this was a resort that was just starting, with 
the 480’ of lakeshore and two acres, there'd be two units allowed? 
 
Buitenwerf replied correct. 
 
Grob continued is that dictated by Mud Lake, as a national environment lake? If Mud Lake were not 
there, what would the allowable density be? 
 
Buitenwerf replied I'd have to calculate that. I didn't do that because the ordinance requires the more 
restrictive lake class to be the one that we use. 
 
Grob asked would it be 4 instead of 2? 
 
Buitenwerf answered it would be higher, whether it be 1 or 2 higher, I couldn't say. 
 
Grob questioned is Mud Lake penalizing them in any way? They are just on that one last little tiny bay 
of the lake, and the road probably has as much impact as anything they would do. 
 
Kovacovich added the ordinance is clear that it goes by the more restrictive lake classification, as 
Buitenwerf said. This property's been owned by the same party for quite some time, and they have 
had contact in the past on different issues with Environmental Services. It doesn't meet criteria. I am 
in agreement with Andres. I can't support any additional dwelling space, whether it be RV or above 
the garage. I'm still having issues with that deck. I can see how the platforms may have helped the 
situation that was there, but I'm struggling with how to affirmatively answer the questions. 



December 19, 2022 Planning Commission/Board of Adjustment Hearing/Meeting 
Minutes 

Page 13 of 15 

 

 
Johnson made a motion to approve Part 1 of the variance application as presented with the condition 
that the current grass ground cover be maintained between the platforms and the beach. 
  
Grob seconded the motion that passed 5 – 0. 

 
Kovacovich made a motion to deny Parts 2 and 3 of the variance application requiring the applicant to 
convert the garage back to a storage structure with no living quarters allowed and remove the deck 
from the garage. 

 
Andres seconded the motion that passed 5 – 0.  
 
The Board provided the findings of fact answers for Part 1 and adopted the staff report findings for 
Part 2 with adjustments made to answers 1, 2, 3, and 4 and adopting answer 5 as written. 
 
Findings of Fact 

Part 1 
 
1. Is the variance in harmony with the general purposes and intent of the official controls?  

           Yes ( X )  No (   ) 

Why or why not? I believe a designated platform for a fire pit containing the ash eliminates any 

need for beach fires so it is helping the lake. 

2.   Is the property owner proposing to use the property in a reasonable manner not permitted by an 

official control? 

              Yes ( X )  No (   ) 

Why or why not? A lakeside fire pit is a reasonable use for customers for a resort with a flat hard 

surface to sit on. 

3.  Is the need for a variance due to circumstances unique to the property and not created by the 

current or prior property owners?          

            Yes ( X )  No (   ) 

 Why or why not? This is a legal, nonconforming resort with customers wanting to sit by the lake 

and gather with a fire.  

4.  Will the issuance of the variance maintain the essential character of the locality? 
             Yes ( X )  No (   ) 

Why or why not? Lakeside recreation alongside a fire pit is happening all up and down the 

shoreline. 

5. Does the stated practical difficulty involve more than just economic considerations?      

           Yes ( X )  No (   ) 

Why or why not? Economics are cited in the application as a practical difficulty, but the property 

also is shallow enough in a north-south direction that the OHW setbacks from the two lakes that it 



December 19, 2022 Planning Commission/Board of Adjustment Hearing/Meeting 
Minutes 

Page 14 of 15 

 

fronts overlap on much of the property and greatly reduce the available area on the rest of the 

property.  

Part 2 

 
1. Is the variance in harmony with the general purposes and intent of the official controls?  

           Yes (   )  No ( X ) 

Why or why not? The property currently exceeds the 25% of lot area impervious surface area 

threshold. The two platforms increase this nonconformity. The property is large enough to only 

have two dwelling units on it. There currently are ten dwelling units and five more dwelling units 

are requested with two of them not meeting all required OHW setbacks. Increasing the 

nonconforming dwelling unit density by this amount is contrary to the ordinance’s intent.  

2.   Is the property owner proposing to use the property in a reasonable manner not permitted by an 

official control? 

              Yes (   )  No ( X ) 

Why or why not? The property is already 500% over the allowed dwelling unit density and the 

request is to further increase the density noncompliance so it would be 700% over the allowed 

dwelling unit density and require OHW setback variances for two of the units is also not a 

reasonable proposed use of the property. 

3.  Is the need for a variance due to circumstances unique to the property and not created by the 

current or prior property owners?          

            Yes (   )  No ( X ) 

 Why or why not? The property is sandwiched between a recreational development lake and a 

natural environment lake and is only 187’ deep between the lakes on the west property line and 

roughly 285’ deep between the lakes on the east property line so there isn’t much available room 

that meets all setbacks. The property is also ~2.8 ac. in size and Wolf Lake Road, a township road, 

runs along the south side of the property which takes up a fair amount of area and contributes quite 

a bit toward the impervious surface area. The property is simply not large enough for the additional 

requested five dwelling units. The current landowner is trying to squeeze more improvements onto 

the property than what it is sized to be able to handle and the additional dwelling units are needed 

for the resort’s economic vitality and are thus driven by the desired use of the property and not 

circumstances unique to the property. 

4.  Will the issuance of the variance maintain the essential character of the locality? 
             Yes (   )  No ( X ) 

Why or why not? This resort property has seasonal residential properties on both its west and 

east sides. The requested RV and dwelling unit above the garage would add five dwelling units to 

the existing ten dwelling units when the property is only large enough to have two dwelling units 

on it. With the Township road that runs along the south side of the property, all the requested RV 

sites and the additional second story dwelling above the garage are very visible from the road.  



December 19, 2022 Planning Commission/Board of Adjustment Hearing/Meeting 
Minutes 

Page 15 of 15 

 

5. Does the stated practical difficulty involve more than just economic considerations?      

           Yes ( X )  No (   ) 

Why or why not? Economics are cited in the application as a practical difficulty, but the property 

also is shallow enough in a north-south direction that the OHW setbacks from the two lakes that it 

fronts overlap on much of the property and greatly reduce the available area on the rest of the 

property.  

 



Hubbard County Board of Adjustment 
Findings of Fact 

Approving and Denying a Variance 
 
Applicant: Lori Lynn Hilmer dba Shangri-La Resort  Date: December 19, 2022 Variance Application # 30-V-22 

Parcel #s 07.01.02300 and 07.01.02910 
 
The criteria for the granting of a variance are set forth in Section 1103 of the Shoreland Management Ordinance.  A variance 
may be granted only where the strict enforcement of county zoning controls will result in a practical difficulty. Variances will only 
be issued when the Board of Adjustment answers Yes to each of the five questions set forth below.  

 
Approved - Part 1: Sections 502.2, 701, and 901 of the Shoreland Management Ordinance (SMO) for two platforms placed 
within the 100' ordinary high water (OHW) mark setback from Wolf Lake that constitute an expansion of a nonconforming 
use and placement of non-vegetated ground cover in the shore impact zone. 

 
1. Is the variance in harmony with the general purposes and intent of the official controls?  

           Yes ( X )  No (  ) 

Why or why not? I believe a designated platform for a fire pit containing the ash eliminates any need for beach fires so 

it is helping the lake. 

2.   Is the property owner proposing to use the property in a reasonable manner not permitted by an official control? 

              Yes ( X )  No (   ) 

Why or why not? A lakeside fire pit is a reasonable use for customers for a resort with a flat hard surface to sit on. 

3.  Is the need for a variance due to circumstances unique to the property and not created by the current or prior property 

owners?          

            Yes ( X )  No (  ) 

 Why or why not? This is a legal, nonconforming resort with customers wanting to sit by the lake and gather with a fire.  

4.  Will the issuance of the variance maintain the essential character of the locality? 
             Yes ( X )  No (  ) 

Why or why not? Lakeside recreation alongside a fire pit is happening all up and down the shoreline. 

5. Does the stated practical difficulty involve more than just economic considerations?        

           Yes (  X )  No (  ) 

Why or why not? Economics are cited in the application as a practical difficulty, but the property also is shallow 

enough in a north-south direction that the OHW setbacks from the two lakes that it fronts overlap on much of the 

property and greatly reduce the available area on the rest of the property.  

The Answers to the questions above, together with the Facts supporting the answers and those other facts that exist in the 

record, are hereby certified to be the Findings of the Board of Adjustment. 

Approved ( X )    Denied (  ) 

 
Denied - Part 2: Sections 502.1, 701, and 1012 of the SMO to expand a nonconforming use by adding four RV sites located 
within the 150' OHW mark setback of Mud Lake that increase the dwelling unit density nonconformity, and Part 3: Sections 
701 and 1012 of the SMO to request an amendment of Variance 99-27 to allow the second story of the garage to be used 
as a dwelling unit with an attached deck that constitutes an expansion of a nonconforming use that increases the dwelling 
unit density nonconformity. 
 
1. Is the variance in harmony with the general purposes and intent of the official controls?  

           Yes (  )  No ( X ) 

Why or why not? The property currently exceeds the 25% of lot area impervious surface area threshold. The two 

platforms increase this nonconformity. The property is large enough to only have two dwelling units on it. There 

currently are ten dwelling units and five more dwelling units are requested with two of them not meeting all required 

OHW setbacks. Increasing the nonconforming dwelling unit density by this amount is contrary to the ordinance’s 

intent.  



Hubbard County Board of Adjustment 
Findings of Fact 

Approving and Denying a Variance 
2.   Is the property owner proposing to use the property in a reasonable manner not permitted by an official control? 

              Yes (  )  No ( X  ) 

Why or why not? The property is already 500% over the allowed dwelling unit density and the request is to further 

increase the density noncompliance so it would be 700% over the allowed dwelling unit density and require OHW 

setback variances for two of the units is also not a reasonable proposed use of the property. 

3.  Is the need for a variance due to circumstances unique to the property and not created by the current or prior property 

owners?          

            Yes (   )  No ( X ) 

 Why or why not? The property is sandwiched between a recreational development lake and a natural environment lake 

and is only 187’ deep between the lakes on the west property line and roughly 285’ deep between the lakes on the east 

property line so there isn’t much available room that meets all setbacks. The property is also ~2.8 ac. in size and Wolf 

Lake Road, a township road, runs along the south side of the property which takes up a fair amount of area and 

contributes quite a bit toward the impervious surface area. The property is simply not large enough for the additional 

requested five dwelling units. The current landowner is trying to squeeze more improvements onto the property than 

what it is sized to be able to handle and the additional dwelling units are needed for the resort’s economic vitality and 

are thus driven by the desired use of the property and not circumstances unique to the property. 

4.  Will the issuance of the variance maintain the essential character of the locality? 
             Yes (   )  No ( X ) 

Why or why not? This resort property has seasonal residential properties on both its west and east sides. The 

requested RV and dwelling unit above the garage would add five dwelling units to the existing ten dwelling units when 

the property is only large enough to have two dwelling units on it. With the Township road that runs along the south 

side of the property, all the requested RV sites and the additional second story dwelling above the garage are very 

visible from the road.  

5. Does the stated practical difficulty involve more than just economic considerations?        

           Yes (  X )  No (  ) 

Why or why not? Economics are cited in the application as a practical difficulty, but the property also is shallow 

enough in a north-south direction that the OHW setbacks from the two lakes that it fronts overlap on much of the 

property and greatly reduce the available area on the rest of the property.  

The Answers to the questions above, together with the Facts supporting the answers and those other facts that exist in the 

record, are hereby certified to be the Findings of the Board of Adjustment. 

Approved (   )    Denied ( X ) 

 

Date: December 19, 2022   /s/ Mike Kovacovich 

      Mike Kovacovich 

      Chairperson, Board of Adjustment 



  

 Environmental Services 
 

 301 Court Avenue, Park Rapids, MN 56470 
  Phone: 218.732.3890 

www.co.hubbard.mn.us/departments/environmental_services/index.php 
 

 

Eric Buitenwerf, Env. Services Director  Bryan Haugen, Asst. Env. Services Director  Staci Lee, Admin. Asst. 
Env. Specialists: Aaron Anderson, Demey DeJong, Kal Larson  GIS Supervisor: Jack Bovee 

 

Hubbard County is an equal opportunity employer 
 

December 20, 2022 
 
Lori Lynn Hilmer 
Shangri-La Resort 
32326 Wolf Lake Road 
Cass Lake, MN 56633 
 
Re: Hubbard County Board of Adjustment decision for Variance Application 30-V-22 
 
Dear Ms. Hilmer, 
 
The Hubbard County Board of Adjustment (BOA) met on Monday, December 19, 2022 to review and 
consider the following variance application: 
 
Variance Application 30-V-22 by Lori Hilmer: Part of Gov't Lots 9 & 10, Section 1, Township 145, 

Range 32, Farden Township between Wolf Lake, a recreational development lake and Mud Lake, a 

natural environment lake. Parcels 07.01.02300 and 07.01.02910. Applicant is requesting the following 

after-the-fact variances - Part 1: Sections 502.2, 701, 901, and 904.6 of the Shoreland Management 

Ordinance (SMO) for two platforms placed within the 100' ordinary high water (OHW) mark setback 

from Wolf Lake that constitute an expansion of a nonconforming use and nonconforming impervious 

surface area and placement of non-vegetated ground cover in the shore impact zone, Part 2: 

Sections 502.1, 701, and 1012 of the SMO to expand a nonconforming use by adding four RV sites 

located within the 150' OHW mark setback of Mud Lake that increase the dwelling unit density 

nonconformity, Part 3: Sections 701, 904.6, and 1012 of the SMO to request an amendment of 

Variance 99-27 to allow the second story of a detached garage to be used as a dwelling unit with an 

attached deck that constitutes an expansion of a nonconforming use that increases the dwelling unit 

density nonconformity and an expansion of the nonconforming impervious surface area. 

 
The official decision of the Hubbard County Board of Adjustment is as follows: 
 

Johnson made a motion to approve Part 1 of the variance application as presented with the 
condition that the current grass ground cover be maintained between the platforms and the 
beach. 

  
Grob seconded the motion that passed 5 – 0. 
 
Kovacovich made a motion to deny Parts 2 and 3 of the variance application requiring the 
applicant to convert the garage back to a storage structure with no living quarters allowed and 
remove the deck from the garage. 



  

 Environmental Services 
 

 301 Court Avenue, Park Rapids, MN 56470 
  Phone: 218.732.3890 

www.co.hubbard.mn.us/departments/environmental_services/index.php 
 

 

Eric Buitenwerf, Env. Services Director  Bryan Haugen, Asst. Env. Services Director  Staci Lee, Admin. Asst. 
Env. Specialists: Aaron Anderson, Demey DeJong, Kal Larson  GIS Supervisor: Jack Bovee 

 

Hubbard County is an equal opportunity employer 
 

 
Andres seconded the motion that passed 5 – 0.  

 
This is in accordance with Section 1103 of the Hubbard County Shoreland Management Ordinance 
and the findings of fact on file (enclosed) with the Environmental Services Department. 
 
Your variance application itself does not constitute a permit. You will still need to obtain the necessary 
certification by the Mississippi Headwaters Board for the platforms and if certified, apply for and 
obtain after-the-fact land use permit(s) for the two platforms. If the MHB does not certify Part 1 of the 
variance application, the BOA’s approval of Part 1 will be null and void. 
 
Please contact our department at (218) 732-3890 with any questions. 
 
Most sincerely, 
 
  
 
Eric Buitenwerf 
Environmental Services Director 
 
Enclosure 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Action/Discussion 
 

Set up Budget Committee meeting- Action 

Governor’s Budget- Discussion 

Executive Directors report- Discussion 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

  



1

Outdoor recreation is central to Minnesota’s identity, fundamental to our economy, and essential for our 
health and quality of life. We have a once-in-a-generation opportunity to invest in renewing and evolving 
our outstanding, but aging, state outdoor recreation system. This transformative Get Out MORE 
(Modernize Outdoor Recreation Experiences) budget proposal will ensure Minnesotans of all abilities 
and interests enjoy a world-class recreation system, whatever outdoor adventure they choose.

Minnesota’s outdoor recreation economy punches above its weight. The Bureau of Economic Analysis 
estimates that outdoor recreation contributes more than $9.9 billion annually to Minnesota’s economy 
and makes up 91,000 jobs (Outdoor Industry Association survey, 2022). The DNR provides enriching 
public outdoor recreation —such as hunting, fishing, wildlife-watching, camping, skiing, hiking, biking, 
off-highway vehicle riding—for Minnesotans of all ages and backgrounds. These opportunities depend on 
Minnesota’s well-managed outdoor recreation system that includes state parks, recreation areas, trails, 
forests, wildlife and aquatic management areas, public water access sites and other facilities. However, 
many DNR-managed facilities are 60 to 90 years old. These facilities are showing their age, and in some 
cases are not designed for today’s outdoor users.

“Get Out MORE” — 
Modernize Outdoor 
Recreation Experiences

Enhancing Access and Welcoming New Users to 
Public Lands and Outdoor Recreation Facilities 

Improving accessibility at DNR-managed 
facilities and public lands for people with 
disabilities also enhances the experience of 
other users. Improved road access and signage 
and rehabilitated state trails further improve 
Minnesotans’ recreational experiences. A 
General Fund investment of $28 million, 
combined with additional bonding funds, 
will support wide-ranging accessibility 
enhancements at state parks, recreation 

areas and wildlife management areas; provide 
accessible outdoor recreation equipment for use 
on state lands; improve parking lots, road access, 
and signage; and rehabilitate segments of the 
most used state trails.

The $118 million Get Out MORE 
investment centers on five key areas:



2

Revitalizing Camping and Related Infrastructure 

Much of Minnesota’s 
camping and related 
outdoor recreation 
infrastructure was 
developed in the 
1930s and 1960s 
and is not designed 
to meet the needs 
of today’s visitors. 
Further, many of 
the wastewater and drinking water systems 
that support state campgrounds have reached 
the end of their useful life and need renewal 
and replacement. A combination of $5 million 
in General Fund and additional bonding dollars 
will fund the highest priority drinking water and 
wastewater system replacements, as well as a 
campground modernization pilot project.

Modernizing Boating Access 

DNR-operated public water accesses need 
significant investment to make them accessible 
to all users, meet the needs of modern 
watercraft, improve protection of public waters 
from stormwater runoff and invasive species, 
and enhance climate resilience. A General Fund 
investment of $35 million, along with additional 
bond funding, will allow DNR to renew and 
rehabilitate more than 100 public water accesses 
to serve anglers, boaters and paddlers across 
Minnesota.

Enhancing Fisheries and Fishing Infrastructure 

Minnesota’s renowned fishing opportunities are 
supported by fish hatcheries that are in critical 
need of renewal and modernization. A number of 
these hatcheries were constructed in the 1950s 
and are still operating with original equipment. 
The DNR also manages 360 shore fishing sites 
and fishing piers across the state. Many new 
anglers, families and children, and people with 
more limited economic resources rely on shore 
fishing facilities to access Minnesota’s public 
waters. A total of $35 million from the General 
Fund, plus bonding, will be used to modernize 
fish hatcheries, revitalize fishing piers, and add 
shore fishing opportunities where communities 
are currently underserved.

Restoring Streams and Modernizing Water-
related Infrastructure to Support Outdoor 
Recreation 

More intense rains are combining with changes 
in land use to cause more flooding and road 
washouts, degrade streambanks, and overwhelm 
water control structures. This impacts our fish, 
waterfowl and recreation opportunities. A $15 
million General Fund investment will be used to 
replace culverts and bridges to improve stream 
ecology, remove  or modify dams and restore 
habitat to enhance fish passage, and renovate 
other water control structures to address 
the impacts of climate change and support 
waterfowl production. 



3 AGY_0181_23 (rev 1.19.23)

Throughout the 2023 legislative session, go to dnr.state.mn.us/aboutdnr/legislativeinfo for updates on 
these once-in-a-generation investments to Minnesota’s outdoor recreation system as well as DNR’s 
work on the FY 2024/25 biennial budget.

Minnesota is known for its unique outdoor 
recreation opportunities, but not all Minnesotans 
can experience those opportunities today. By 
building a more modern and inclusive outdoor 
recreation system, Minnesota can better serve 
current outdoor enthusiasts, connect even more 
people to the outdoors, and help ensure future 
generations will also benefit from time spent in 
our unparalleled natural places.

An Equal Opportunity Employer | mndnr.gov | ©2023, Minnesota DNR



Executive Director Report 
 November - December 2022 

 
Personnel, Budget, Administration, Information & Education, Correspondence 
 

1. Reviewed monthly budget. 
2. Prepared monthly agenda packet. 
3. Sent in monthly expense report. 
4. Sent press release to newspapers. 
5. Reviewed monthly variances as they are brought forward by counties. 
6. Sent updated history signage to DNR parks and trails for review. 
7. Updated annual budget and work plan for SFY 2024. 
8. Reviewed and provided comment on Crow Wing county ordinance revision. 
9. Called New Commissioners to update them on MHB board meeting. 
10. Updated and sent MHB reimbursement to DNR. 
11. Signed biennial conference contract with Breezy Point Resort which is set up for 

10/27/23. 
 

Meetings & Networking 
 

1.  Held discussion with Jeff Forester, MN Lakes and Rivers director to discuss his role in 
AIS.  Jeff invited me to a meeting that hopefully will provide me with some strategic 
direction. 

2. Attended Aitkin Rivers & Trails committee meeting.   
3. Attended the Crow Wing Committee of the Whole meeting and the Commissioners 

agreed that the Dahler project(1,200 acres around $2M) will be a great asset to the 
county.  The Trust for Public land will need to have an appraisal done by the DNR so that 
will take a few months. 

4. Beltrami County received funding from the BWSR from the Clean Water Fund to install a 
subsurface stormwater treatment system to reduce total suspended solids and total 
phosphorus loading to lake Bemidji.  This was based off a Stormwater Retrofit Analysis 
(SRA) completed by using 1W1P funds.  MHB first introduced SRA to the region back in 
2014, and that leadership is producing future results. 

5. Crow Wing County received funding from the BWSR from the Clean Water Fund to help 
stabilize a 1.4 acre gully that has been eroding since 1985.  This project will address 26% 
of Brainerd’s waste load allocation to the Miss. river (TMDL). 

6. Discussion between MN-Fish, Governor Walz, and DNR Commissioner Strommen 
occurred and they are optimistic about having a bill to rehabilitate Public Water 
Accesses.  Discovering pathways to get this to the local level and other discussions need 
to occur before this is presented to the legislature.  Resourcetainment was used as a 
buzzword.   

7. Attended MN DNR Roundtable where good discussions were held with leaders from the 
DNR. 


	1 1.27.22 agenda
	2 Att consent cover-minutes
	3 22-12.16 minutes
	4 sfy2023 monthly budget sheet
	5 MHB December DETAIL UPDATED
	6 1.3.23 Press release
	6.5DNR email
	7  Att P&Z
	8 Hilmer Variance
	30-V-22 Hilmer variance app
	30-V-22 Hilmer variance app staff rpt
	30-V-22 Hilmer variance app dwelling unit density calc
	30-V-22 Hilmer variance app Dec staff rpt
	30-V-22 Hilmer variance app 05262021 staff site visit sketch and photos
	30-V-22 Hilmer variance app 2020 aerial photos
	30-V-22 Hilmer variance app 04292022 NOV letter
	30-V-22 Hilmer time extension form
	30-V-22 Hilmer public notice letter
	30-V-22 Hilmer public comment #1
	Dec 19 2022 Hubbard Co PCBOA mtg minutes Hilmer variance app
	30-V-22 Hilmer decision FOF
	30-V-22 Hilmer decision letter

	10 Att action-discussion
	10.5 AGY_0181_2023 Budget 2023 - Get Out MORE_PRINT FINAL
	11 22-1.27 Executive Staff Report

